

Evolution of angiosperm seed disperser mutualisms: the timing of origins and their consequences for coevolutionary interactions between angiosperms and frugivores

Ove Eriksson*

Department of Ecology, Environment and Plant Sciences, Stockholm University, SE-106 91 Stockholm, Sweden

ABSTRACT

The origins of interactions between angiosperms and fruit-eating seed dispersers have attracted much attention following a seminal paper on this topic by Tiffney (1984). This review synthesizes evidence pertaining to key events during the evolution of angiosperm-frugivore interactions and suggests some implications of this evidence for interpretations of angiosperm-frugivore coevolution. The most important conclusions are: (i) the diversification of angiosperm seed size and fleshy fruits commenced around 80 million years ago (Mya). The diversity of seed sizes, fruit sizes and fruit types peaked in the Eocene around 55 to 50 Mya. During this first phase of the interaction, angiosperms and animals evolving frugivory expanded into niche space not previously utilized by these groups, as frugivores and previously not existing fruit traits appeared. From the Eocene until the present, angiosperm-frugivore interactions have occurred within a broad frame of existing niche space, as defined by fruit traits and frugivory, motivating a separation of the angiosperm-frugivore interactions into two phases, before and after the peak in the early Eocene. (\dot{u}) The extinct multituberculates were probably the most important frugivores during the early radiation phase of angiosperm seeds and fleshy fruits. Primates and rodents are likely to have been important in the latter part of this first phase. (iii) Flying frugivores, birds and bats, evolved during the second phase, mainly during the Oligocene and Miocene, thus exploiting an existing diversity of fleshy fruits. (iv) A drastic climate shift around the Eocene-Oligocene boundary (around 34 Mya) resulted in more semi-open woodland vegetation, creating patchily occurring food resources for frugivores. This promoted evolution of a 'flying frugivore niche' exploited by birds and bats. In particular, passerines became a dominant frugivore group worldwide. (v) Fleshy fruits evolved at numerous occasions in many angiosperm families, and many of the originations of fleshy fruits occurred well after the peak in the early Eocene. (v) During periods associated with environmental change altering coevolutionary networks and opening of niche space, reciprocal coevolution may result in strong directional selection formative for both fruit and frugivore evolution. Further evidence is needed to test this hypothesis. Based on the abundance of plant lineages with various forms of fleshy fruits, and the diversity of frugivores, it is suggested that periods of rapid coevolution in angiosperms and frugivores occurred numerous times during the 80 million years of angiosperm-frugivore evolution.

Key words: coevolution, fleshy fruits, bats, birds, megafauna, multituberculates, primates, rodents.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	169
II.	Background Hypotheses	169
III.	A rationale for a focus on birds, bats, primates and rodents (among extant seed dispersers)	171
IV.	Timing of origin and radiation of frugivorous birds	172
ν.	Timing of origin and radiation of frugivorous mammals	174
	(1) Rodents	174

* Address for correspondence (Tel: +468 161204; E-mail: ove.eriksson@su.se).

168

	(2) Primates	174
	(3) Bats	175
VI.	Timing of origin of angiosperm fleshy fruits	176
VII.	Discussion	178
	(1) Synthesis of evidence of timing	178
	(2) Implications for plant-frugivore coevolution	179
VIII.	Conclusions	182
IX.	Acknowledgements	182
Х.	References	182

I. INTRODUCTION

This review concerns the major transitions in the interactions between angiosperms and vertebrate seed dispersers, focusing on the diversification of seed and fruit traits associated with the evolution of frugivores from the late Cretaceous and during the Palaeogene and Neogene. The main topic is seed-dispersal by animals which are attracted by soft tissue associated with the seeds, so-called fleshy fruits. The term fleshy fruits is here used in a broad sense, including any structure enclosing seeds and surrounding them with a fleshy, edible, pulp layer (Jordano, 2000), thus including also structures that morphologically are not parts of the fruit, but function in that way (e.g. a strawberry, where the juicy part is not the fruit). Although there are suggestions that fleshy tissue surrounding seeds originally evolved as a defence structure (Mack, 2000), most discussion on fleshy fruits has assumed that they are functionally adapted to attract seed dispersers. The same argument has been made for a special form of granivory (seed predation) which may be considered as functionally similar to frugivory on fleshy fruits. This is when the animal, despite being attracted by the seed itself rather than by a fleshy tissue, by scatter-hoarding actively contributes to seed dispersal. As advocated by Hulme (2002) and Vander Wall & Beck (2012), frugivory and scatter-hoarding dispersal systems have much in common. In both systems, the plants provide a nutritional reward (soft juicy tissue, or seeds) for the service of seed dispersal by a vertebrate. Scatter-hoarding implies that a fraction of seeds harvested by the animal is not consumed, and thereby functions as dispersed propagules. Both these plant-animal interactions may be considered as mutualistic, they include a reward for the animal and they promote seed dispersal, and the interaction is potentially subject to coevolution.

Vertebrate-dispersed seeds occurred long before the origin of angiosperms (reviewed by Tiffney, 2004), and fleshy tissue surrounding seeds occur in for example cycads, *Ginkgo* spp., Gnetales and several groups of conifers (Friis, Crane & Pedersen, 2011). However, the origins of interactions between angiosperms, specifically, and fruit-eating seed dispersers have attracted special attention following a seminal paper on this topic by Tiffney (1984). A crucial question for interpreting these origins is the timing of the events. When did seed size start to diverge in angiosperms? When did fleshy fruits and scatter-hoarded nuts originate? Which were the animals that may have been involved in these interactions? As pointed out by Friis *et al.* (2011), studies on the explosive angiosperm diversification of plant–animal interactions are important for understanding the origin of modern ecosystems, and inferences on causal mechanisms regarding these interactions depend critically on coincidence of timing. A summary of evidence on timing of events relating to the angiosperm–seed disperser interaction should thus be in order, and is the rationale behind this review. The goal is to discuss these questions and provide a summary of evidence concerning the origins and diversification of fleshy fruits and frugivores throughout the evolutionary history of angiosperms, from their origin in the early Cretaceous. An additional goal is to discuss evolutionary implications of the interactions between angiosperms and animal seed dispersers, once these had become established.

II. BACKGROUND HYPOTHESES

Today, the interactions between angiosperms and vertebrate seed dispersers are among the most prominent in terrestrial ecosystems. Fleshy-fruited plants account for 36-42% of woody species in temperate forests and 22-56% in Mediterranean scrublands (Jordano, 2000), and 70-94% of woody species in tropical forests (Fleming, Breitwisch & Whitesides, 1987; Jordano, 2000). Taxonomically, fleshy fruits occur in a wide range of plant families (Vander Wall & Beck, 2012). Fruits of several angiosperm families, e.g. Icacinaceae, Lauraceae and Vitaceae, have a well-documented fossil record going back to the Eocene forests more than 50 Mya, and for Arecaceae, Cornaceae and Menispermaceae even to the late Cretaceous (Collinson & Hooker, 1991; Harley, 2006; Wang et al., 2012). Figure 1 provides an account of the geological timescale. Scatter-hoarded fruits (mainly large nuts) are common in the temperate zone, for example in the Betulaceae, Fagaceae and Juglandaceae (Vander Wall & Beck, 2012), but are also important in the tropics, particularly in neotropical forests (Forget et al., 2002).

Tiffney (1984) presented data on fruit and seed size throughout angiosperm evolution that constitutes the basis for most accounts on coevolution between plants and frugivores (e.g. Wing & Tiffney, 1987*b*; Sussman, 1991; Wing & Boucher, 1998; Tiffney, 2004; Sussman, Rasmussen & Raven, 2013). In his figure 2 (Tiffney, 1984, p. 560) seed volume is plotted against time, from the early Cretaceous



Fig. 1. Average and range of seed size in angiosperms since the origin of angiosperms around 130 Mya. The figure is based on Eriksson *et al.* (2000*a*), where details on data sampling and analyses are described. Seed size increases from around 80 Mya to the early Eocene, when palaeocommunities with the greatest maximum and average seed size are clustered, followed by a weak tendency of declining seed size. The geological timescale follows Cohen *et al.* (2013) and depicts the Cretaceous, and the Palaeogene, Neogene and Quaternary epochs.

onwards. Seed size did not change much during the Cretaceous and most angiosperms had rather small seeds that were abiotically dispersed. Later studies on seed size in relation to angiosperm phylogeny have confirmed that basal angiosperm lineages generally have small seeds (Sims, 2012). According to Tiffney (1984), seed size started to increase around the Cretaceous–Palaeogene (K–Pg) boundary, approximately 66 Mya. Seed size and fruit types diversified drastically during the following epoch, the Palaeocene, and peaked during the early Eocene (55 to 50 Mya). Tiffney (1984) remarked that there was a tendency, albeit non-significant, for a decline in average seed size from the Oligocene, reaching a level that has remained until the present.

Tiffney (1984) associated the increase in seed size in angiosperms with the development of angiospermdominated forest communities and advocated the idea that angiosperms required biotic dispersal agents to attain dominance. He suggested that the coinciding radiations of birds and mammals were instrumental in allowing dispersal of large, animal-dispersed propagules, thus promoting the development of angiosperm-dominated forest systems. In a later review, Tiffney (2004, p. 19) stressed that 'the radiation of birds and mammals established dispersal agents scaled to move organs, which, in turn, allowed larger disseminule size and ultimately the establishment of closed forests ... '. However, Wing & Tiffney (1987a, b) incorporated also other aspects such as generalized herbivory and competition for light in successively more closed vegetation. They suggested that during the main part of the Cretaceous, large herbivores (dinosaurs) inflicted strong disturbance on vegetation. Angiosperms were '*r*-selected' and adapted to disturbance. Thus angiosperms were small-seeded and lacked adaptation to seed dispersers. During the late Cretaceous, some seeds became dispersed by vertebrates, but it was not until after the K-Pg boundary, when dinosaur herbivory ceased, that angiosperms became 'K-selected' and adapted to dispersal by frugivores. Wing & Tiffney (1987b) suggested a complex relationship where coevolution between plants and dispersers is involved in a positive feedback with vegetation development, such that increasing seed size and increased fraction of fleshy fruits results from both coevolution and a closed forest vegetation structure (figure 5 in Wing & Tiffney, 1987*b*, p. 201).

Eriksson, Friis & Löfgren (2000a) made an additional analysis of seed size and fruit types in angiosperms based on fossil floras from the early Cretaceous onwards. Their results differed from Tiffney (1984) in that the increase in seed size commenced earlier, by approximately 80 Mya, during the late Cretaceous (Fig. 1). The peak in seed size and fraction of animal-mediated seed dispersal in Eriksson et al. (2000a) agreed with Tiffney (1984), i.e. palaeocommunities with the greatest maximum and average seed size cluster in the early Eocene (c. 55 to 50 Mya). The fraction of angiosperms with animal-mediated seed dispersal systems increased in association with the increase in seed size (Eriksson et al., 2000a; Eriksson, 2008), suggesting that fleshy fruits started to become more abundant at the same time as seed size started to increase. However, a detailed study of one of the earliest angiosperm floras (c. 124 Mya) showed that about a quarter of the fruits already at that time were fleshy (drupes and berries), although the size of the seeds and fruits was small (Eriksson et al., 2000b). Eriksson et al. (2000a) suggested that the initial driver behind the increasing seed size in the late Cretaceous and early Tertiary was the structure of the vegetation. Angiosperm-dominated tropical forests expanded from the late Cretaceous and reached a maximal distribution in the early Eocene (Morley, 2000, 2011). In these forests, large seeds were favoured due to competition for light. Increased selection for animal-mediated dispersal resulted from the increased seed size. The increasingly common food source provided by fruits led to new animal groups exploiting this new food source, and plants were favoured by seed-dispersing animals which were capable of transporting large seeds. In this scenario, specialized frugivores were not the drivers behind the diversification of seed size and fruits types, but rather a consequence of the availability of a new food source.

The early interactions between angiosperms and seed-dispersing animals have also been discussed in the context of evolution of one of the putative disperser groups, the primates. Sussman (1991) and Sussman *et al.* (2013) suggested that euprimates ('modern' primates), evolved during the early Eocene in a close coevolutionary relationship with angiosperms: 'The evolution of modern primates, as well as that of fruit bats and fruit-eating birds, may be directly related to the evolution of improved means of exploiting (...) the fruits and seeds of flowering plants.' (Sussman *et al.*, 2013, p. 101).

The implications of the timing of the diversification of seed size and fruit types in relation to various suggested seed-dispersing animals is still an open question. For example, primates may not have been an important coevolutionary agent for the initial angiosperm diversification of seeds and fruits, since this took place considerably earlier than the radiation of primates. A similar discrepancy in timing has been noted for other frugivores, such as birds and bats (Eriksson, 2008; Fleming & Kress, 2011). Fleming & Kress (2011) even suggested that evolution of 'bird-fruits' may have facilitated evolution of frugivory in primates (thus, frugivorous birds would have evolved before frugivorous primates). Several of the above-mentioned papers on angiosperm seed size evolution (e.g. Tiffney, 1984; Wing & Tiffney, 1987*b*; Eriksson *et al.*, 2000*a*,*b*) are in fact quite vague on the identity of the interacting animals, referring mostly to a poor fossil record. An important issue is thus to identify which groups of extant and extinct animals were most likely involved in angiosperm–seed disperser interactions.

III. A RATIONALE FOR A FOCUS ON BIRDS, BATS, PRIMATES AND RODENTS (AMONG EXTANT SEED DISPERSERS)

Before summarizing evidence related to the timing of origin of the fleshy fruit/seed disperser interactions, one has to decide which extant animal groups should be considered as frugivorous. This is not a trivial problem, since fruit eating is a very common phenomenon, even among animals which do not have fruits as the main part of their diet. In his review on the biology of figs (*Ficus*, Moraceae), Janzen (1979, p. 40) posed the rhetorical question 'Who eats figs?' and answered: 'Everybody.' Figs are often considered the single most important genus of fleshy-fruited plants from a present-day fruit consumption viewpoint. Figs may also be among the first plants which were domesticated by humans (Kislev, Hartmann & Bar-Yosef, 2006). Shanahan et al. (2001) concluded that the animals known to eat figs include 10% of the world's bird species and 6% of the world's mammals. The major fig eaters among birds are fruit pigeons, parrots and passerines, and the major fig-eaters among mammals are bats, primates and squirrels (Shanahan et al., 2001). This list of animal groups, birds, bats, primates and rodents, provides a reasonable starting point for discussing major groups of frugivores in the extant fauna. Birds, bats and primates constitute a trio most commonly mentioned as the animal groups which have fleshy fruits as their main source of nutrition, and thus being the major players in the seed disperser interaction, especially in the tropics (e.g. Fleming et al., 1987; Chapman, 1995; Jordano, 2000; Gómez & Verdú, 2012; Sussman et al., 2013). Rodents should be included both because some groups rely strongly on fleshy fruits (in a strict sense), e.g. squirrels (Shanahan et al., 2001), but also since scatter-hoarding of large nuts is here considered as functionally similar to frugivory of fleshy fruit, and rodents play an important role in scatter-hoarding (Vander Wall & Beck, 2012).

This restricted list of animal groups should not be seen as downgrading the occurrence, and at least locally, the importance of frugivory involving also other groups of animals, for example elephants (e.g. Chapman, Chapman & Wrangham, 1992; Nchanji & Plumptre, 2003), carnivores (e.g. Willson, 1993; Motta-Junior & Martins, 2002), and oppossums, kangaroos, lemurs, ungulates, reptiles and fish (Jordano, 2000; Herrera, 2002), or in geologically recent times, members of the now-extinct 'megafauna' (e.g. Donatti *et al.*, 2007; Guimarães, Galetti & Jordano, 2008; Hansen & Galetti, 2009). Thus, frugivory should be described as an interaction between a large number of plant species and a diverse array of animals.

We will return to the interactions involving the Pleistocene megafauna in Section VII, and here focus on the extant animal groups suggested as most important for a long-term perspective of plant-frugivore interactions: birds, bats, primates and rodents. However, for examination of timing of origin in relation to angiosperm seed and fruit diversification, additional qualification is needed to identify focal taxa of these animals. In his list of 'specialized' tropical frugivorous birds, Snow (1981) included (Caprimulgiformes), trogons (Trogoniformes), oilbirds turacos (Cuculiformes), mousebirds (Coliiformes), hornbills (Coraciiformes), fruit pigeons (Columbiformes), and several groups of passerines (Passeriformes), e.g. barbets, cotingids, manakins, starlings, broadbills, corvids, honeybirds, birds of paradise and toucans (now usually placed in Piciformes, e.g. Patané et al., 2009). Extracting similar information from Fleming et al. (1987) confirms the list by Snow (1981), but adds also parrots (Psittaciformes), cracids (Galliformes), and cassowaries (Struthioniformes). Among bats, two groups are mainly frugivorous, Old World fruit bats (megabats; Pteropodideae) and New World fruit bats (leaf-nosed bats; Phyllostomideae). In extant primates, the majority is mainly frugivorous (Gómez & Verdú, 2012), qualifying use of the order primates as a whole. For scatter-hoarding animals the list becomes more limited, including mainly rodents and some passerine birds, particularly corvids (jays, rooks, nutcrackers) (Vander Wall & Beck, 2012).

IV. TIMING OF ORIGIN AND RADIATION OF FRUGIVOROUS BIRDS

The origin and radiation of 'modern birds', Neornithes, has been subject to much debate, and remains controversial (e.g. Feduccia, 1996, 2003; Hedges et al., 1996; Cooper & Penny, 1997; Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004; Ericson et al., 2006; Ericson, 2012; Mayr, 2013). The main disagreement is whether lineages of Neornithes radiated and diversified during the Cretaceous, which is suggested by molecular analyses, or after the K-Pg boundary in the early Palaeogene, which is suggested by fossil evidence. Birds have often been considered very poorly represented in the fossil record, making conclusions on plant-disperser interactions involving birds difficult. This view has been questioned by Bleiweiss (1998) and Lindow & Dyke (2006), suggesting that the fossil record should be useful to assess the broad temporal relationships between the diversification of seed size and fleshy fruits and the diversification of various groups of potentially frugivorous birds. For example, of 33 recognized ordinal-level clades of extant Neornithes, 11 have been found from the Fur formation (early Eocene) in Denmark (Dyke & Lindow, 2009).

The most diverse and widely distributed group of birds during the Cretaceous, judged from the fossil record, is the now extinct Enantiornithes, some of which were relatively small and probably arboreal (Padian & Chiappe, 1998; Chiappe & Dyke, 2002). Not very much can be concluded about their feeding habits, although it seems likely that some included seeds and fruits in their diet. There is some direct evidence suggesting granivory in birds from the Cretaceous. Zhou & Zhang (2002) found traces of seeds in the fossil of an early Cretaceous bird of unknown affinity. Zheng et al. (2011) reported evidence that early Cretaceous birds had a well-developed digestive system with a crop, a feature that in modern birds usually is associated with granivory. Among modern bird orders, fossil evidence suggest a Cretaceous origin for only a few (e.g. Anseriformes, Charadriiformes, Gaviiformes, Procellariformes) (Padian & Chiappe, 1998), but this evidence has been questioned (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004). Assuming that these bird orders really did evolve during the Cretaceous, it seems unlikely that they were frugivorous, based on their extant representatives.

Very little evidence on fossil birds is known from the Palaeocene (Lindow & Dyke, 2006; Mayr, 2007; Dyke & Lindow, 2009). The bird groups that are found from this time (e.g. Anseriformes, Ralliformes, Gruiformes, Strigiformes) are not likely to have been frugivorous (e.g. Hwang, Mayr & Bolortsetseg, 2010; Mayr, Alvarenga & Clarke, 2011), and arboreal birds appear to be generally rare or even absent (Mayr, 2007). Although it has been suggested that the diversification of the crown groups of modern avian families did not take place before the Oligocene (Mayr, 2005), it seems that some of the groups potentially relevant for frugivorous interactions may have originated in the Eocene. Much of the relevant information comes from the Fur formation in Denmark which was previously interpreted as late Palaeocene, but has later been placed as early Eocene (Lindow & Dyke, 2006).

Kristoffersen (2001) described findings of trogons (Trogoniformes) from the Fur formation as morphologically quite similar to extant species, and she noted that some of the plant genera whose fruits are part of the diet of extant trogons, e.g. Ocotea (Lauraceae) and Hasseltia (Flacourtiaceae), have been found in the early Eocene London Clay (Collinson, 1983). Several other groups of birds which include extant frugivores have records from the Eocene, for example Caprimuligiformes, including extant oilbirds (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004) and Coliiformes, including extant mousebirds (Lindow & Dyke, 2006). Coliiformes was particularly diverse during the Eocene (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004; Mayr, 2005) but no evidence indicates whether they were frugivorous. Several studies describe Eocene records of Psittaciformes (parrots) (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004; Mayr, 2005; Lindow & Dyke, 2006; Waterhouse et al., 2008) but the earliest parrots may have been more generalized in their feeding habits, and only later evolved specialized frugivory (Mayr, 2005). For Cuculiformes (including extant turacos), and Coraciiformes (including extant hornbills), the fossil record is meagre, and it seems unclear whether they existed in the Eocene (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004; Mayr, 2005). An exception may be the insectivorous rollers (Coraciiformes), which are known from the Eocene (Feduccia, 1996). Columbiformes (including extant fruit pigeons) are not known from fossils older than

the Miocene (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004; Mayr, 2005). Evidence is equivocal for Galliformes. Even though the stem group may have occurred in the Eocene, the crown groups including the frugivorous cracids evolved much later (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004; Mayr, 2005; Lindow & Dyke, 2006). Cassowaries (Struthioniformes) are not known before the Pliocene (Feduccia, 1996). For the toucans (Piciformes), their origin and diversification in the neotropics is not likely to have commenced before the middle Miocene (Patané *et al.*, 2009).

The bird order including most extant species and also the most diverse array of extant frugivores is the passerines (Passeriformes). The phylogeny of passerines is controversial, but it is known that passerines occurred in Australia already in the early Eocene (Boles, 1995). This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that passerines originated and diversified in the southern hemisphere, and later dispersed to the northern hemisphere (Ericson, Irestedt & Johansson, 2003; Barker *et al.*, 2004; Jønsson *et al.*, 2011), which would have been colonized during the Oligocene (Mayr & Manegold, 2004). No fossil of passerines in Europe is older than the Oligocene (Dyke & van Tuinen, 2004; Mayr, 2005), and Lindow & Dyke (2006) remarked that the rich fossil bird fauna from the early Eocene Fur formation in Denmark would have contained passerines, if there were any passerines present. Despite these indications of a late arrival to the northern hemisphere, recent molecular evidence suggests origins of major passerine lineages already in the late Cretaceous and diversification of the clade Oscines ('songbirds', containing most extant frugivores) in the Palaeocene or Eocene (Ericson *et al.*, 2014). However, Mayr (2013) strongly disagreed with suggestions of a Cretaceous origin of passerines. He remarked that passerines have a generally uniform morphology, and thus that '... a Cretaceous divergence of crown group passerines would imply an unprecedented evolutionary stasis for more than 80 million years in one of the most species-rich group of endothermic vertebrates' (Mayr, 2013, p. 7). Furthermore, Mayr (2013) pointed out that the oldest undisputable oscine fossils in the northern hemisphere are from late Oligocene.

Summarizing evidence of the origin and radiation of frugivorous birds (Fig. 2) leads to the conclusion that some seed- and fruit-eating birds (most likely the now extinct Enantiornithes) were present already in the Cretaceous. No evidence suggests that this feeding strategy was common, however. There is no strong evidence suggesting that there were 'modern' groups of frugivorous birds in the Palaeocene. A radiation of several lineages of modern groups of birds took place during the Eocene, and many of these lineages contain frugivores in the extant fauna, for example trogons,



Fig. 2. Time lines for frugivorous birds and mammals. The time lines show temporal occurrence of frugivory during the last 100 million years, in major frugivorous bird and mammal groups for which there are evidence of frugivory prior to the Pliocene. A dotted line indicates that the evidence is weak.

mousebirds and parrots, but except for trogons the inference that these really were frugivorous at that time is weak. Most likely, passerines did not arrive to the northern hemisphere before the Oligocene, and perhaps they replaced earlier birds using frugivory niches (Harrison, 1979). Even if passerines originated earlier in the southern hemisphere, they are not likely to have been involved in plant-disperser interactions from the late Cretaceous to the Eocene in the northern hemisphere, from where most data on fossil seeds and fruits are derived (Tiffney, 1984; Eriksson *et al.*, 2000*a*).

V. TIMING OF ORIGIN AND RADIATION OF FRUGIVOROUS MAMMALS

Mammals originated in the late Triassic (c. 200 Mya) (Carroll, 1997; Novacek, 1999), or possibly later during the Jurassic (c. 166 Mya) (O'Leary et al., 2013), and the earliest mammals are thought to have been generalized, small, nocturnal predators or scavengers. Estimates based on molecular methods suggest origins of extant mammal orders during the Cretaceous (e.g. Bininda-Emonds et al., 2007; Meredith et al., 2011), and there is some fossil evidence of eutherian mammals (including all extant placental mammals) from the Cretaceous (Ji et al., 2002; Goswami et al., 2011). However, recent studies based on a compilation of various data (O'Leary et al., 2013), and most fossil evidence, is in accordance with the long-held opinion that 'modern' mammal orders radiated during the Palaeocene after the K-Pg mass extinction event (e.g. Alroy, 1999; Meredith et al., 2011) or close to the Palaeocene-Eocene boundary, possibly causally related to the Palaeocene-Eocene thermal maximum. This period of exceptional global warming is associated with the appearance of primates and modern 'hoofed' mammals (Perissodactyla and Artiodactyla) (Gingerich, 2006), and also with a rapid geographical spread of several modern mammal groups (Bowen et al., 2002; Smith, Rose & Gingerich, 2006).

During the Cretaceous, before the radiation of modern mammal orders, other mammal groups have been suggested as potential candidates of frugivorous seed-dispersing interactors with angiosperms, such as multituberculates and didelphoid marsupials (Collinson & Hooker, 1991; Agustí & Antón, 2002). In particular, the multituberculates (which went extinct in the late Eocene) are likely to have been important interactors with angiosperms. Multituberculates radiated profoundly from around 85 Mya, concerning body size and feeding habits (Wilson et al., 2012) and became the most successful clade of late Cretaceous mammals (Novacek, 1999). Average body mass approximately tripled between 85 Mya and the K-Pg boundary; the largest species weighing up to 5 kg (Wilson *et al.*, 2012). Some species were arboreal (Jenkins & Krause, 1983; Collinson & Hooker, 1991), a life habit that has been suggested to be associated with longer life spans (Shattuk & Williams, 2010). The multituberculate radiation included adaptive shifts towards increased herbivory, including frugivory, and their dentition suggests that seeds and fruits were an important part of the diet (Wilson *et al.*, 2012).

During the Palaeocene, average body mass in herbivores (including also 'archaic ungulates') increased (Wing & Tiffney, 1987*a*; Janis, 2000). Herbivores at this time were not specialized folivores; this feeding habit disappeared along with the dinosaurs, not to become common until later during the Eocene (Janis, 2000). Plant reproductive parts, flowers, seeds and fruits, were likely to have been important components of the herbivore diet. Thus, interactions between mammals and fleshy-fruited plants most likely had a long history before the radiation of modern mammals. Figure 2 summarizes the timing of origin and radiation of frugivorous mammals; a more detailed description of early frugivory in rodents, primates and bats is given below.

(1) Rodents

The stem group of rodents (and lagomorphs), Glires, probably originated close to the K-Pg boundary (Asher et al., 2005), and there are several fossil findings of Glires from the Palaeocene (e.g. Meng et al., 2005, 2007). The rodent lineage is believed to have evolved during the Palaeocene (Gingerich, 2006; Blanga-Kanfi et al., 2009; O'Leary et al., 2013), and some animals were 'squirrel-like and arboreal' (Agustí & Antón, 2002), thus potentially eating seeds and fruits. Although many extant rodents also are frugivorous, e.g. squirrels (Shanahan et al., 2001), rodents are particularly important seed dispersers due to scatter-hoarding of nuts and large seeds (Vander Wall & Beck, 2012). A key adaptation is their ever-growing incisors, making rodents exceptionally suited to handling hard fruits such as nuts. Collinson & Hooker (2000) suggested that granivory and hoarding behaviour in rodents evolved and became common during the late Eocene along with climate deterioration, whereas rodent frugivory on soft fruits was more common earlier during the Eocene. Angiosperm families producing typically rodent-dispersed nuts today, Betulaceae, Fagaceae and Juglandaceae, had rather small dry-winged fruits in the early Eocene and large nuts did not become abundant until the late Eocene (Collinson & Hooker, 1991, 2000), or perhaps even later during the Oligocene (e.g. Daghlian & Crepet, 1983).

(2) Primates

The origin and early evolution of primates has long been controversial, and opinions diverge on the delimitation of primates, the timing of their origin, and the ecological conditions favouring characteristic features of primates such as grasping extremities, nails instead of claws, optic convergence, and brain enlargement. It has been suggested that the ancestral primate lineage diverged during the late Cretaceous (Tavaré *et al.*, 2002; Soligo & Martin, 2006; but see Silcox *et al.*, 2007). However, fossil evidence of euprimates ('modern' primates) is not known before the early Eocene, and a recent estimate including molecular data suggests that

euprimates originated 55.8 to 50.3 Mya, i.e. in the early Eocene (O'Leary *et al.*, 2013).

It has been considered likely that primate origin is related to an arboreal habit. Developing this idea, Cartmill (1974, 1992) suggested the 'visual predation hypothesis'. The key adaptation in the earliest primates, according to this hypothesis, was visually guided predation on insects in the understorey and canopy of tropical forests. An alternative hypothesis was suggested by Sussman (1991) who argued that early primates were omnivorous, and consumed 'small objects' in the forest canopies, including insects, but primarily flowers, seeds and fruits. This 'angiosperm–primate coevolution hypothesis' has recently been elaborated in more detail by Sussman *et al.* (2013).

These different opinions partly reflect a disagreement of how an extinct group of primates or primate-like mammals, the Plesiadapiformes, are related to euprimates. Plesiadapiforms were abundant during the Palaeocene (e.g. Silcox & Williamson, 2012), and went extinct during the Eocene. In contrast to Cartmill (1974), who did not consider plesiadapiforms as primates, later studies support that they should be included in primates (Bloch *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, well-preserved fossil remains of a plesiadapiform from the Palaeocene indicate that grasping abilities evolved before orbital convergence (Bloch & Boyer, 2002). Although not altogether conclusive for distinguishing between these two hypotheses, this finding is not in line with what we should expect from Cartmill's (1974, 1992) visual predation hypothesis.

For the question of timing between the diversification of frugivores and angiosperm seed sizes and animal-dispersed fleshy fruits, the disagreement on whether plesiadapiforms should be regarded as primates is however not essential. Irrespective of whether plesiadapiforms should be considered as primates, they are undoubtedly good candidates as frugivorous seed dispersers during the Palaeocene. Plesiadapiforms had a wide range of feeding habits, including folivory (Boyer, Evans & Jernvall, 2010; Boyer, Costeur & Lipman, 2012) and frugivory (Bloch & Boyer, 2002; Sargis, 2002; Bloch et al., 2007; Chester & Beard, 2012). A balanced conclusion may be that they were omnivores, but that fruits were an important part of their diet. After the Palaeocene-Eocene boundary, euprimates radiated (Gingerich, 2006). Based on reconstruction of diet of fossil primates from the Eocene and early Oligocene, Strait (2001) concluded that the majority were frugivorous (e.g. Silcox, Dalmyn & Bloch, 2009), but the diet repertoire included also insectivory (e.g. Ni et al., 2003). Palaeocene plesiadapiforms thus seem to have had a range of feeding habits similar to the euprimates in the Eocene. It is thus possible that euprimates replaced plesiadapiforms within a similar range of feeding niches after the Palaeocene-Eocene boundary (Boyer et al., 2012).

(3) **Bats**

Bats constitute about 20% of extant species of mammals, and together with rodents they are the most diverse mammal orders. Bats have traditionally been divided into two main groups, Megachiroptera, comprising the mostly frugivorous family Pteropodidae (megabats, or Old World fruit bats), and Microchiroptera, comprising the remaining families, including a range of different feeding strategies, for example insectivory, frugivory and sanguivory (Baker et al., 2012). The main rationale for the separation of megabats from the remaining bat families is that megabats lack echolocation (apart from being generally bigger). However, a comprehensive analysis based on molecular data (Teeling et al., 2005) suggests that megabats are actually nested within the other lineages of bats. This implies that either echolocation has evolved at least twice, or it has been lost in the lineage comprising megabats. Based on indirect evidence, the second alternative seems most probable (Simmons, 2005; Teeling et al., 2005). The fossil record of bats has been considered poor (e.g. Eiting & Gunnell, 2009). Nevertheless, there are several recent studies examining combined fossil and molecular evidence, suggesting that we now have a rather consistent picture of when bats evolved, how the different bat lineages are related phylogenetically, and how early evolution of bats is related to the environmental conditions during the Palaeogene (e.g. Simmons, 2005; Teeling et al., 2005; Almeida et al., 2009, 2011; Dumont et al., 2012).

Although it has been speculated that bats may have a Palaeocene origin (e.g. Teeling et al., 2005), bats do not appear in the fossil record until the Eocene (Tabuce, Antunes & Sigé, 2009; Harrison & Hooker, 2010; Ravel et al., 2011; Morgan & Czaplewski, 2012; Smith et al., 2012). Fossil evidence suggests that the earliest bats were small and insectivorous (Baker et al., 2012; Smith et al., 2012). The diversity of bats was high already in the early Eocene, suggesting a rapid diversification (Simmons, 2005; Teeling et al., 2005). This rapid diversification of bats has been associated with the Palaeocene-Eocene thermal maximum (Gingerich, 2006), during which insect abundance is thought to have increased drastically (Currano *et al.*, 2008). Key innovations such as a powered flight and echolocation were instrumental for the radiation and success of bats, exploiting a feeding niche based on insects (Simmons, 2005).

Frugivory in bats seems to have evolved later, first in Pteropodidae and then in some lineages of Phyllostomidae (Baker et al., 2012). Although Pteropodidae was separated from other bat lineages already in the early Eocene, the crown group is more recent (Almeida et al., 2011). Diversification of the crown-group Pteropodidae has been estimated to 38 to 24 Mya (Almeida et al., 2009) and 28 to 18 Mya (Teeling *et al.*, 2005), i.e. during an interval from the late Eocene to Miocene. The ancestral condition of Phyllostomidae was probably insectivory (Rojas et al., 2011), and it was not until the diversification of the crown group, estimated to have occurred during the late Oligocene-Miocene, 26 to 15 Mya (Teeling *et al.*, 2005), that frugivory appeared in some lineages. This diversification involved successive changes in skull morphology and biting performance, as adaptations to particular specialized diets (Dumont et al., 2012). The subfamily Phyllostominae, including some frugivorous lineages, diversified in the middle Miocene 19.5

to 18.6 Mya (Hoffmann, Hoofer & Baker, 2008). For one genus of frugivorous phyllostomid bats, *Sturnira*, the initial diversification has been estimated to have occurred in the late Miocene 15.9 to 12.6 Mya, with divergence between the two major extant lineages 5.5 to 3.7 Mya (Velazco & Patterson, 2013). The suggested scenario is thus that some insectivorous lineages of phyllostomids during the Miocene evolved a successively more specialized frugivory, initially feeding on soft fruits and later feeding on harder and more fibre-rich fruits (Rojas *et al.*, 2012).

VI. TIMING OF ORIGIN OF ANGIOSPERM FLESHY FRUITS

Angiosperm seeds were initially generally small, and continued so from the origin of angiosperms somewhere around 130 Mya and during the following approximately 50 million years (Fig. 1). After this long period of stasis, seed and fruit size started to increase, commencing around 80 Mya, approximately coinciding with a general expansion phase of angiosperms (Lupia, Lidgard & Crane, 1999; Friis *et al.*, 2011). Angiosperm-dominated tropical rainforests expanded during the period from the late Cretaceous to the global warming maximum in the early Eocene (Morley, 2000, 2011; Wang *et al.*, 2012). At this time, tropical forests extended as far as 60° N (Morley, 2011). The environmental context, from a vegetation viewpoint, is thus clear. The diversification of angiosperm seed sizes and fruits took place along with expanding tropical forests.

Before summarizing evidence on timing of fleshy fruit origins, a few remarks on fruit evolution is useful. The ancestral condition for angiosperm fruits is apocarpy, i.e. free carpels, but the majority of extant angiosperms have evolved syncarpous fruits, i.e. where the carpels are fused (Endress, 1982). Fruits may be dehiscent, i.e. they open to release the seeds, or indehiscent, remaining closed, and they may be dry or fleshy. There are many different variants of fleshy fruits where the 'fleshiness' originates from other tissues than the

pericarp developed from the ovary wall, but two major types of fleshy fruits are often recognized, drupes and berries (e.g. Seymour et al., 2013). Both these are indehiscent and usually syncarpous. Exceptions occur rarely, for example apocarpous berries in Apocynaceae (Simões et al., 2007). Drupes are characterized by having few seeds, usually only one, and this seed is enclosed in a hard inner fruit layer, the endocarp. Berries have a thin often almost unnoticeable endocarp, and they usually contain many seeds, which then by necessity are smaller than what is regularly the case for drupes. Although there are one-seeded berries, for example in the Lauraceae (e.g. avocado), most extant berries contain many small seeds (e.g. Ericaceae and Solanaceae). Nuts are morphologically similar to drupes, but lacking a fleshy mesocarp (middle fruit layer), thus enclosing the seed within a hard or leathery fruit wall. A general conclusion is that fleshy fruits, if interpreted as an adaptation for attracting animal seed dispersers, are the result of convergent evolution occurring in many different plant lineages, and resulting in a wide array of morphologies.

Focusing on syncarpous fruits, drupes and nuts are the expected endpoints of selection acting on fruit structure to increase seed size. Due to a seed size/number trade-off, a consequence is reduced seed number per fruit. Thus, the major option to increase seed size is to evolve one-seeded drupes or nuts and enlarge them. This can be documented in the palaeofloras during the period commencing around 80 Mya, but the trend only concerns drupes (large nuts did not become abundant before the late Eocene; Collinson & Hooker, 2000). Based on fossil evidence, drupes dominated among the fleshy fruits during the expansion phase in the late Cretaceous and early Palaeocene. Berries are rarely documented in palaeofloras from the Cretaceous, but their occurrence may be underestimated since the structure of berries makes them more difficult to detect in fossils. Comparing the fraction of species with drupes in six palaeofloras spanning the period 87 to 63 Mya (Table 1) shows an increase from 5.6 to 33.3%. The corresponding values for early Eocene floras from the London Clay during the 'peak phase' of angiosperm seed and fruit size are similar,

Table 1. Fraction of 'species' with fruits interpreted as drupes based on fossil evidence from palaeofloras from the late Cretaceous to early Eocene. The floras are the same as those used in Eriksson *et al.* (2000*a*) for this period. Records of endocarps have been interpreted as drupes. Assuming conservatism of fruit types, many seeds from these floras indicate that the true fraction of drupes was higher, and also that berries were common, for example in the Vitaceae and Annonaceae

Flora	Age (Mya)	% drupes	Ν
Klikov-Schichtenfolge (1, 2)	87	5.6	71
Aachen (1, 3)	78	11.4	35
Horni Becva (1, 4)	74	7.4	27
Walbeck (1)	70	24.6	65
Eisleben (1)	70	30.4	46
Gonna-Walkmühlz II, IV (5)	58 - 63	33.3	36
London Clay, Herne Bay (6)	53	34.7	150
London Clay, Bognor (6)	53	30.6	134
London Clay, Sheppey (6)	53	33.3	327

Figure within parentheses after the name of each flora is a key to references: 1, Knobloch (1964), Nemejc (1971), Knobloch & Mai (1983, 1984, 1986); 2, Knobloch (1985); 3, Vangerow (1954); 4, Knobloch (1977); 5, Mai (1987); 6, Reid & Chandler (1933), Chandler (1961).

Biological Reviews 91 (2016) 168-186 © 2014 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

i.e. around a third of all species had drupes (Table 1). The floras used in Table 1 are the same as those used in Eriksson *et al.* (2000*a*), showing a continuous size increase of seeds and fruits during this period. Berries were also common in the London Clay floras, but many of these were one-seeded berries (Lauraceae), thus functionally similar to one-seeded drupes. However, based on seeds from families which today possess berries, for example those fossil seeds identified as Vitaceae and Annonaceae, the fraction of berries may have been quite high.

Transforming the structure of a fruit (for example evolving a large drupe from a capsule) means losing dehiscence, reducing the seed number per fruit in order to enable larger seeds, developing a fleshy mesocarp, enclosing the seed in a hard endocarp, and enlarging the seed and the fruit. Recent evidence on fruit development pathways shows that the genomic regulation of ontogenetic development of different kinds of fruit (capsules, berries, drupes) is similar (Seymour et al., 2013), suggesting that a consistent directional selection would enable such a transformation without any need for fundamentally altering gene regulation of fruit development. Detailed studies combining phylogeny and diversification with analyses of fruit evolution, for Solanaceae (Knapp, 2002; Särkinen et al., 2013) and Melastomataceae (Clausing, Meyer & Renner, 2000), suggest that changes in fruit morphology, both from dry to fleshy fruits, and among different forms of fleshy fruits, are ontogenetically 'easy'. Although likely to be much less common, there is evidence also for transitions from fleshy to dry fruits, for example in Solanceae (Knapp, 2002), Apocynaceae (Simões et al., 2007), Ericaceae (Bush et al., 2009) and Adoxaceae (Jacobs, Huysmans & Smets, 2010).

As indicated by the presence of plant families which today possess berries, this fruit type most likely was abundant in the floras from the Eocene, and the same holds for large nuts (Collinson & Hooker, 2000). Thus, as far as can be established from fossil evidence all the major dimensions of fruit type variation (Seymour *et al.*, 2013) concerning apocarpy/syncarpy, dehiscence/indehiscence, dry/fleshy fruits, and among the latter, both the main types, berries and drupes, as well as a full seed size range (in relation to present-day variation), were established in the early Eocene. Although not recognized in the fossil record, also the smallest existing angiosperm seeds, so called 'dust seeds', were most likely present in the Eocene (Eriksson & Kainulainen, 2011). This 'peak' of seed and fruit size diversification is thus not only referring to average seed and fruit size (Tiffney, 1984; Eriksson et al., 2000a; Fig. 1), but also to variation in seed size and fruit types.

Sims (2010) examined the temporal trends in seed size described by Tiffney (1984) and Eriksson *et al.* (2000*a*) in relation to potential sampling errors due to the latitudinal location of palaeofloras. There is a strong latitudinal gradient in seed size in extant floras (Moles *et al.*, 2007), and if present during the Cretaceous and Palaeogene, it could produce a misleading picture of any temporal trend in seed size. However, Sims (2010) found that the large increase in seed size during the late Cretaceous and early Palaeogene, reaching a peak in the early Eocene, was

robust. Furthermore, both Tiffney (1984) and Eriksson *et al.* (2000*a*) noted a slight decrease in average seed size after the Eocene. This trend was weak, and should be viewed with caution.

The fact that a full range of variation with regard to fleshy fruits existed in the early Eocene does not mean that all extant fleshy-fruited angiosperm lineages had at that time evolved fleshy fruits. Even though many angiosperm families seem to have conserved fruit traits ever since the Eocene (Eriksson et al., 2000a), e.g. the Icacinaceae (Stull et al., 2012), both drupes and berries have evolved much more recently in many angiosperm lineages. Bolmgren & Eriksson (2005) found that clades where fleshy fruits originated were temporally distributed over the last 70 million years, and almost half the origins were younger than 40 Mya. In the Rubiaceae, different kinds of fleshy fruits, drupes, berries, and 'Gardenia-fruits' have evolved independently at least 12 times (Bremer & Eriksson, 1992). More detailed analyses of parts of the family (Kainulainen et al., 2010) suggest that the number of origins is even higher. The divergence times of different tribes in the Rubiaceae have been estimated to span from 77.9 to 14.2 Mya (Bremer & Eriksson, 2009). Some of these tribes, e.g. Coffeeae (divergence time 33.3 to 21.3 Mya) generally possess fleshy fruits. Relatively recent origins of fleshy fruits are also found in the tribe Condamineeae, where most lineages have capsules (Kainulainen et al., 2010). In Melastomataceae fleshy fruits have originated at least three times (Clausing et al., 2000). One of these lineages, including the genus Medinilla, originated and diversified in the Miocene (Renner, Clausing & Meyer, 2001; Renner, 2004). Another example of diversification of fleshy fruits is from the palm family (Arecaceae). Palms are an ancient family with a fossil record from the late Cretaceous (Harley, 2006). Most palms have fleshy fruits (drupes) dispersed by a wide array of mostly mammalian and avian frugivores (Zona & Henderson, 1989). Although the crown group of palms diversified in the late Cretaceous (Baker & Couvreur, 2013a), a drastic increase in diversification rate occurred in the tribe Areceae much later, 38.1 to 23.6 Mya (Baker & Couvreur, 2013b). This tribe possesses relatively small and for frugivores attractive drupes (Baker & Couvreur, 2013b).

The most detailed information on timing of evolution of fleshy fruits within a single family is from the Solanaceae (Knapp, 2002; Särkinen *et al.*, 2013). This family comprises around 10000 species, of which about 2000 species belong to the cosmopolitan genus *Solanum*. Capsular fruits are the ancestral condition in the Solanaceae, and berries have originated in three separate lineages. The major lineage with berries, including *Solanum*, branched off from its sister branch (including *Nicotiana*) 26 to 23 Mya, and initiated a rapid diversification 18 to 13 Mya. The other two lineages with berries are likely to be of a more recent origin.

These examples, although far from exhaustive, suffice to conclude that in many angiosperm lineages fleshy fruits evolved much later than the expansion phase from the late Cretaceous to the peak in the early Eocene. A focus solely on the putative frugivores in the late Cretaceous and early Tertiary, as is the case for most treatments of the evolution of angiosperm-frugivore interactions (e.g. Tiffney, 1984; Wing & Tiffney, 1987*b*; Sussman, 1991; Eriksson *et al.*, 2000*a*; Fleming & Kress, 2011; Sussman *et al.*, 2013), is thus incomplete. It may be necessary to distinguish between the evolutionary interactions occurring during the 'origination and expansion' phase of fleshy fruits, i.e. when dry dehiscent fruits in many lineages first started to evolve into fleshy indehiscent fruits, and the evolutionary interactions occurring when the fleshy fruits were already in place, providing a niche zone for frugivores to exploit.

VII. DISCUSSION

(1) Synthesis of evidence of timing

The evidence reviewed on fleshy fruits and frugivorous birds and mammals is summarized in Figs 1 and 2. Several of the modern frugivores, particularly birds and bats, can be excluded as part of any potential coevolutionary interaction with plants during the first phase of angiosperm seed size, fruit size and fruit type diversification from approximately 80 Mya, and continuing until it reached a 'peak' in the early Eocene. Although some bird orders which today include frugivores, e.g. Caprimulgiformes (including oilbirds), Coliiformes (including mousebirds) and Psittaciformes (parrots) were probably present from the Eocene, the only direct inference suggesting bird frugivory in the Eocene concerns trogons (Trogoniformes) (Kristoffersen, 2001). Passerines, which today comprise the bulk of frugivorous bird species, did not become potential agents in interactions with angiosperm seeds and fruits until the Oligocene, or perhaps even the Miocene (at least in the northern hemisphere). Also the other group of flying frugivores, bats, can be excluded as agents of interactions with angiosperms during this first phase. Although radiating in the early Tertiary, bats were initially insectivorous. Frugivorous lineages (Phyllostomidae, Pteropodidae) evolved later, in the late Oligocene-Miocene.

Evidence on timing suggests a somewhat more complex picture for the two other dominant groups of present-day mammals involved in disperser interactions with plants with fleshy fruits, primates and rodents. Plesiadapiforms existed during the Palaeocene, and are thus very likely candidates as causal agents influencing angiosperms during this period. Euprimates, which radiated in the Early Eocene, may also have become important interacting agents close to the peak of seed size and fruit size diversification. Rodents radiated in the Eocene, and although large nuts apparently did not become abundant before the late Eocene (Collinson & Hooker, 2000), it cannot be excluded that rodents were influential agents in interactions with angiosperm seeds and fruits close to the seed and fruit size peak in the Eocene. However, both primates and rodents can be excluded as interacting agents already from 80 Mya. Furthermore, the suggestion by Fleming & Kress (2011) that bird frugivory laid the basis for evolution of frugivory in primates because birds dominate (quantitatively) the frugivore fauna today, is obviously not in accordance with the evidence presented here.

The strongest candidates as major agents of interactions with angiosperm seeds and fruits during the period from 80 Mya until the peak in the early Eocene are the multituberculates. This group of mammals which went extinct in the late Eocene has been considered ecological 'analogues' to rodents and has been suggested as putative seed dispersers during the Cretaceous (e.g. Wing & Tiffney, 1987b; Collinson & Hooker, 1991), but not based on much evidence. Recent studies highlight their potential importance in the context of angiosperm evolution. Multituberculates experienced a radiation during the last 20 million years of the Cretaceous (Wilson et al., 2012), i.e. coinciding with the initiation of the increase in seed size and fraction of fleshy fruits. Other frugivorous mammal groups may have been present at this time, e.g. marsupials, but multituberculates stand out as the prime candidate for early angiosperm-seed disperser interaction, potentially influencing seed and fruit diversity.

The global environment changed drastically at the end of the Eocene. According to Prothero (1994), the Eocene-Oligocene transition was the most significant period of change in the Earth's history since the K-Pg mass extinction. In several pulses, the Earth became much cooler, followed by marked changes in the diversity of organisms. In the northern hemisphere, tropical and subtropical forests were replaced by temperate deciduous forests, in both North America (Graham, 1999) and Europe (Mai, 1989). The forest cover in general disintegrated (Knobloch et al., 1993), thus implying that the landscape became more open, with patchy woodland, and with a larger element of smaller trees, shrubs and herbaceous vegetation (Graham, 1999). Over time, the cooling of the Earth gave way to the development of grassland biomes, which expanded during the early Miocene around 18-20 Mya in North America (Janis, Damuth & Theodor, 2002) and in Eurasia (Strömberg, 2011). The distribution of rainforest retracted, and rainforests remained only at low latitudes (Morley, 2011). The climate and vegetation changes resulted in a major transformation of the faunas, where many lineages of forest-dwelling 'archaic' mammals adapted to browsing, and mammals adapted to an arboreal life (e.g. many arboreal primates) went extinct (e.g. Collinson & Hooker, 1991; Prothero, 1994). The majority of these disappearing early euprimates were frugivores (Strait, 2001).

When viewing these drastic changes in climate, vegetation structure, and composition of faunas in the context of angiosperm-frugivore interactions, three features stand out as particularly important: (*i*) major groups of frugivores among arboreal mammals, the multituberculates, and many lineages of primates went extinct, opening niche space for arboreal frugivory by other groups of animals. (*ii*) All major morphological forms of fleshy fruits were present. Thus, the frugivore feeding niche space was available for new animal groups to exploit. (*iii*) The conditions for frugivory and seed dispersal may have been altered when the vegetation composition and structure became more open or semi-open.

A striking feature of timing of evolution of the major groups of extant frugivores is that flying frugivores, i.e. bats (Pteropodidae; Old World fruit bats, and lineages of Phyllostomidae; New World fruit bats), as well as the major group of extant frugivorous birds, the passerines, appeared during this second phase of plant-frugivore interactions, mainly after the Eocene-Oligocene cooling. Thus, these groups of frugivores exploited an existing feeding niche, previously occupied by now extinct frugivores (arboreal mammals), and they exploited a food resource that, at least outside the tropical rainforests, was likely to be more patchily distributed. Being able to fly would be an obvious advantage particularly in landscapes where the food resources were more scattered spatially (Fleming & Kress, 2011). Moreover, plants living in patchily distributed habitats were more likely to benefit from seed dispersal beyond the immediate surroundings of the mother plant.

Thus, a speculative suggestion is that the drastic changes initiated during the late Eocene and Oligocene paved the way to the evolution of flying frugivores, bats and birds. Concerning birds, it has been proposed that small non-passerine birds before the Oligocene utilized similar niches as those later filled by modern passerines (Harrison, 1979; Mayr, 2005). There is unfortunately not much evidence available to examine this suggestion. Although exploiting the fruit-eating feeding niche was important, the success of passerines was not only related to frugivory. For example, passerines include several radiations of granivorous birds that are among the most successful within the entire class of birds (Ericson et al., 2003), and passerines may have benefitted from their cognitive abilities, useful for example in food hoarding (Jønsson et al., 2011). Passerines are exceptionally common and widespread among frugivores throughout the world, and they are the most species-rich order of frugivores today. It may thus be possible to consider an Oligocene-Miocene 'passerine take-over' of a feeding niche based on fleshy fruits. Although this food source initially evolved through interactions with other, now extinct, mammal frugivores, birds managed to exploit an existing feeding niche under conditions where food resources due to climate change became more widespread and scattered, and when the earlier occupants of this niche were largely gone. Only fruit-bats challenged the birds in this 'flying frugivore niche'.

(2) Implications for plant-frugivore coevolution

There is a general understanding that today most interactions between fleshy-fruited plants and their frugivorous seed dispersers are weak and 'diffuse'. This idea emerged as a critique of early interpretations of relationships between plants and frugivores where these were seen as similar to coevolutionary interactions between plants and pollinators (e.g. van der Pijl, 1972). Advocated by Wheelwright & Orians (1982) and Herrera (1985), and supported by several studies (e.g. Herrera, 1987, 1998; Jordano, 1995*a,b*; Jordano *et al.*, 2007), the picture emerged that plants are generally weakly, if at all, influenced by the identity of frugivores, or by where and when animal fruit-eating occurs, and that fruit-trait variation has minor impacts on plant fitness. There is a correspondingly weak relation when the interactions are viewed from the animal's side. Most frugivores consume numerous different fruits, and their dependence on particular species, or fruit traits, is negligible (e.g. Jordano, 2000; Herrera, 2002). Plant-frugivore interactions act 'group-wise'; many species of frugivores interact simultaneously with many plant species with fleshy fruits.

With the exception of large nuts dispersed by scatter-hoarding birds and rodents (Vander Wall & Beck, 2012), hypothesized 'dispersal syndromes', i.e. complexes of fruit traits that converge into clusters with different trait clusters for plants interacting with different groups of frugivores, are only weakly supported (Gautier-Hion et al., 1985; Fischer & Chapman, 1993; Herrera, 2002). There is a strong phylogenetic signal in fruit-trait variation, i.e. much of the variation in fruit traits occurs between different plant lineages (Jordano, 1995a). When the phylogenetic effect is removed, the main remaining effect is a trend that larger frugivores tend to feed on larger fruits (e.g. Janson, 1983; Jordano, 1995a; Dew & Wright, 1998; Pizo, 2002; Lomáscolo, Speranza & Kimball, 2008; Flörchinger et al., 2010). Furthermore, the largest fleshy fruits occur in the Old World tropics where frugivores are on average larger than in the New World tropics (Mack, 1993; Lomáscolo et al., 2008). Fruits consumed by birds have been found relatively more integrated in trait space than fruits consumed by mammals, possibly a result of the fact that birds have generally better vision than mammals, enabling them to exert stronger selection on visual cues (Valido, Schaefer & Jordano, 2011). Mammal-dispersed fruits have been found to be generally 'dull-coloured' (Dew & Wright, 1998; Dominy, Svenning & Li, 2003), in contrast to bird-dispersed fruits which are often brightly coloured (e.g. Poulsen et al., 2002; Lomáscolo et al., 2008).

Even though transformation of fruits, for example from capsules to berries, and from berries to drupes is likely to be ontogenetically 'easy' (as reviewed in Section VI), it seems reasonable that transformation of fruit structure, related to dehiscence, seed size and number, occurrence of a hard endocarp, and 'fleshiness', would necessitate a consistent directional selection. Animals would also have been subjected to consistent directional selection to evolve into specialized frugivores. Suggested adaptations for fruit-eating, for example dentition in Cretaceous mammals (Wilson et al., 2012), trichromatic vision in primates (Dominy et al., 2003), social behaviour in primates (Müller & Soligo, 2005), and various form of bill shapes, e.g. in toucans (Patané et al., 2009), all indicate strong directional selection. Under what conditions could group-wise coevolution lead to such directional selection during the formative periods when these traits evolved?

Theoretical studies of complex species-rich mutualistic networks suggest that such networks may provide a basis for strong selection of coevolving traits (Guimarães, Jordano & Thompson, 2011; Nuismer, Jordano & Bascompte, 2012). Loss of species in complex mutualistic networks may alter the selection gradients, resulting in rapid changes in trait distribution. For example, a study by Galetti *et al.* (2013) found seed size reduction in a palm species following local extinction of large toucans, suggesting that fruit traits may be directly and rapidly responding to changes in frugivory. Could it be that the weak and diffuse interactions, so often found in field studies, may have been misinterpreted as evidence that reciprocal selective influence between fleshy-fruited plants and frugivores is always weak?

A suggestion is that periods associated with significant changes in environmental conditions, for example in vegetation structure or in the identity of the interacting frugivore groups, induce strong and formative coevolutionary plant—frugivore interactions. These changes result in altered mutualistic networks, in turn initiating directional and reciprocal selection on fruit and frugivore traits. Periods of strong interactions resulting in diversification may also occur when unoccupied ecological niche space becomes available. Sims (2012) proposed that this is a general explanation for the diversification in seed size in seed plants; both the earliest diversification that occurred in 'gymnosperms', from the Devonian to the Late Carboniferous (Pennsylvanian), and for the angiosperms later during the Cretaceous and the Palaeogene.

These mechanisms would imply that angiospermfrugivore coevolution occurs in pulses, interspersed by periods where weak and diffuse interactions dominate, corresponding to a macroevolutionary manifestation of the mosaic theory of coevolution (Thompson, 1994, 2005). Figure 3 provides a conceptual summary of this suggestion. Althoff, Segraves & Johnson (2014) suggested that use of new environments, for example niche expansion mediated by coevolutionary interactions (Joy, 2013) may initiate a cascade of processes ultimately resulting in diversification of lineages of the interacting partners. Over time, as the new niche zone becomes occupied, the resulting networks of interacting plants and frugivores stabilize and the interactions become weaker. Although plant-frugivore networks have been found to vary in stability, they are nevertheless relatively stable (e.g. Schleuning et al., 2011; Menke, Böhning-Gaese



Fig. 3. A conceptual model of shifts between periods of coevolution leading to reciprocal adaptive changes in fruits and frugivores, and periods of weak and diffuse coevolution.

& Schleuning, 2012; Plein *et al.*, 2013), suggesting that only substantial changes in the network (e.g. Galetti *et al.*, 2013), or environmental changes affecting the structure of vegetation, may spur a new period of coevolutionary interactions strong enough to alter trait distributions. The ubiquity of different lineages of fleshy fruits with various morphologies suggesting convergent evolution, as for example in Rubiaceae (Bremer & Eriksson, 1992; Kainulainen *et al.*, 2010), Melastomataceae (Clausing *et al.*, 2000), Solanaceae (Knapp, 2002), Apocynaceae (Simões *et al.*, 2007) and Rosaceae (Potter *et al.*, 2007), indicate that such localized pulses of coevolution may in fact have been common.

What evidence is there for an association of general environmental changes, and periods of diversification among fleshy-fruited angiosperms and their frugivores? Answering this question necessitates a lot of speculation, as there is not much evidence available. Overall, the diversification period from the late Cretaceous to the early Eocene, for angiosperm seeds and fruits, multituberculates, and, in the latter part of the period, primates, occurred along with an expansion of tropical rainforests (Morley, 2011). Changing vegetation structure may thus be one environmental driver. Further support for this explanation comes from Bolmgren & Eriksson (2005) who found a significant association between the evolution of fleshy fruits in different angiosperm lineages and vegetation change towards forest vegetation. But this evidence only concerned plants, as no simultaneous radiations of frugivores were assessed. Moreover, there is a striking similarity between the angiosperm seed and fruit diversification during the late Cretaceous and early Palaeogene, and the diversification of seed size in non-flowering seed plants in the Pennsylvanian, a diversification which also took place during a period of rapid vegetation change (Willis & McElwain, 2002; Tiffney, 2004; Sims, 2012).

During the early Miocene (23 to 16 Mya), the global climate again became warmer, resulting in a second phase of tropical rainforest expansion (Morley, 2011). In South America this period coincided with radiations of New World fruit bats (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2008; Velazco & Patterson, 2013), New World monkeys (Opazo *et al.*, 2006), caviomorph rodents (Opazo, 2005), and several lineages of frugivorous birds (Hoorn *et al.*, 2010), e.g. toucans (Patané *et al.*, 2009) and parakeets (Ribas, Miyaki & Cracraft, 2009). Some evidence also comes from Africa, where vegetation change during the Pliocene promoting distribution of forests *versus* open vegetation was associated with rapid radiation of forest robins (Voelker, Outlaw & Bowie, 2010).

In particular, the radiations of fruit bats are suggestive of coevolutionary interactions with fleshy-fruited plants. Seed dispersal by phyllostomid bats is linked to the recruitment niche of early successional plants in several angiosperm families, e.g. Solanaceae, Piperaceae and Moraceae (Muscarella & Fleming, 2007). One genus of phyllostomid bats, *Sturnira*, experienced a pronounced diversification in the Miocene (from 15.9 to 12.6 Mya) (Velazco & Patterson, 2013). These bats rely much on *Solanum*, and according to Velazco & Patterson (2013) radiation of *Solanum* in South

_

180



Fig. 4. An overview of the origin and evolution of coevolutionary interactions between angiosperms with fleshy fruits and their frugivorous seed dispersers, in relation to major changes in global temperature and vegetation. The temperature curve is adapted from Zachos *et al.* (2001). A, multituberculates; B, plesiadapiforms; C, rodents; D, primates; E, birds; F, bats.

America has depended on and been spatially congruent with the diversification of these bats. Their suggestion is supported by phylogenetic studies indicating that diversification of *Solanum* commenced 18 to 13 Mya (Särkinen *et al.*, 2013). *Solanum* berries vary in size (1–15 cm) and colour, black, red, orange, yellow and green; bats prefer yellowish berries (Knapp, 2002), and most likely the berries in the lower range of the size variation (due to the bat's own small body size).

Unfortunately, there are very few studies enabling comparisons such as that between Sturnira and Solanum, but such studies should be possible to perform as more detailed phylogenies of radiations of frugivores and fleshy-fruited plants become available (Althoff et al., 2014). If pulses of coevolution between angiosperms and frugivores have driven the evolution of this interaction, it seems reasonable that the first phase during the period about 80 to 50 Mya witnessed particularly strong coevolutionary interactions. The trait space of seed and fruit traits changed drastically from relative stasis between 130 and 80 Mya, to an 'explosion' of seed and fruit traits, culminating in the early Eocene. From that time until the present, pulses of formative coevolution between angiosperms and frugivores may have been more localized, both in time and space, as the example on phyllostomid bats and Solanum suggests. Figure 4 illustrates this suggestion, and summarizes the major patterns of changing climate, vegetation and seed size, and major groups of frugivores, from the late Cretaceous to the present.

It might be that we are witnessing an ongoing formative coevolutionary process, and this relates to the megafauna which largely went extinct after the last glaciation, probably due to a combination of hunting by humans and climate change (Koch & Barnosky, 2006). Janzen & Martin (1982) advocated the idea that many fleshy fruits were adapted to dispersal by megafauna, and that such dispersal syndromes would be anachronisms in those parts of the world where megafauna no longer exists. This idea has been followed up recently by several authors (e.g. Donatti et al., 2007; Guimarães et al., 2008; Hansen & Galetti, 2009; Johnson, 2009) providing indirect support for the hypothesis of 'megafauna fruits'. These fruits are characterized by an 'overbuilt design' with large fruit mass, but with either few very large or many small seeds (Guimarães et al., 2008). The megafauna had no counterpart during the early periods of fruit and seed size diversification, when mammals were generally small. Dinosaurs might have had a similar ecological role as megafauna during the Cretaceous, but this is not supported by the fact that angiosperm fruits and seeds remained small during more than 50 million years until the diversification began around 80 Mya. Thus, interactions with megafauna are likely to be evolutionarily rather recent. Still, the drastic change during the last 10–12 millennia in size structure of animals which included fruits in their diet might have induced not only decline and possibly extinctions of plants that depended on megafauna for seed dispersal, but also selection for smaller fruits and seeds. Fruit-eating is constrained by the dimensions of mouthparts, and in a recent study, Galetti et al. (2013) showed that the distribution of seed size in a palm species was strongly influenced by the size distribution of the frugivores present. Their study concerned large frugivorous birds, toucans, and they estimated that phenotypic selection after loss of the largest frugivores over about 100 years could be responsible for an about 30% reduction in seed mass. Even though these results reflect a tragic loss of biodiversity, the strongly transformed nature of the world may provide us with excellent opportunities to examine the potential for strong directional selection in

coevolutionary interactions between frugivores and plants with fleshy fruits.

VIII. CONCLUSIONS

(1) This review summarizes evidence on the timing of origin and diversification of fleshy-fruited angiosperms and their frugivores, and discusses the implications of this evidence for an understanding of plant-frugivore coevolution. Synthesizing evidence from major frugivore groups, combined with evidence from morphological and phylogenetic studies of several angiosperm families results in a partly new view of angiosperm-frugivore coevolutionary interactions.

(2) A drastic diversification of angiosperm seed size and fleshy fruits commenced around 80 Mya. The diversity of seed sizes, fruit sizes and fruit types peaked in the early Eocene around 55 to 50 Mya. During this phase of the interaction, angiosperms and animals evolving frugivory expanded into niche space not previously utilized by these groups, as frugivores and previously not existing fruit traits appeared. From the early Eocene until the present, angiosperm–frugivore interactions have occurred within a broad frame of existing niche space, as defined by fruit traits and frugivory. This indicates a separation of the angiosperm–frugivore interaction into two major phases, before and after the peak in the early Eocene.

(3) The timing of the origin and diversification of major frugivore groups suggests that now-extinct mammal groups, mainly the multituberculates, were the most important frugivores during the early radiation phase of angiosperm seeds and fleshy fruits. Primates and rodents are likely to have been important in the latter part of this first phase.

(4) Flying frugivores (birds and bats) evolved during the second phase, thus exploiting an existing diversity of fleshy fruits. The same holds for most extant primate lineages, since many of the arboreal primate groups during the Eocene went extinct around the Eocene–Oligocene boundary (around 34 Mya).

(5) The drastic climate shift around the Eocene– Oligocene boundary promoted more semi-open woodland vegetation, creating more patchily occurring food resources for frugivores. This may have promoted evolution of a 'flying frugivore niche' exploited by birds and bats. In particular, passerines became a dominant frugivore group worldwide.

(6) Fleshy fruits have evolved at numerous occasions in many angiosperm families, and many of the originations and diversifications of fleshy fruits occurred well after the peak in the early Eocene. Although evidence is scarce, it is suggested that evolution of fleshy fruit was particularly common during the Miocene.

(7) During localized periods in space and time, associated with altered interaction networks and opening of new niche space, reciprocal coevolution may result in strong directional selection formative for both fruit and frugivore features. Further evidence is needed to test this hypothesis. Based on the abundance of plant lineages with various forms of fleshy fruits, and the diversity of frugivores, it is suggested that such periods of rapid coevolution in angiosperms and frugivores have occurred numerous times during the 80 million years of angiosperm—frugivore evolution. One such formative period may be taking place today as a result of the loss of megafauna.

IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to J. Ehrlén, P. G. P. Ericson, S. Knapp, M. Arnell, and two anonymous reviewers for many helpful comments on the manuscript, and to M. Arnell for making the figures.

X. REFERENCES

- AGUSTÍ, J. & ANTÓN, M. (2002). Mammoths, Sabertooths, and Hominids: 65 Million Years of Mammalian Evolution in Europe. Columbia University Press, New York.
- ALMEIDA, F. C., GIANNINI, N. P., DESALLE, R. & SIMMONS, N. B. (2009). The phylogenetic relationships of cynopterine fruit bats (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae: Cynopterinae). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 53, 772–783.
- ALMEIDA, F. C., GIANNINI, N. P., DESALLE, R. & SIMMONS, N. B. (2011). Evolutionary relationships of the old world fruit bats (Chiroptera, Pteropodidae): another star phylogeny? *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 11, 281.
- ALROY, J. (1999). The fossil record of North American mammals: evidence for a Paleocene evolutionary radiation. Systematic Biology 48, 107–118.
- ALTHOFF, D. M., SEGRAVES, K. A. & JOHNSON, M. T. J. (2014). Testing for coevolutionary diversification: linking pattern with process. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 29, 82–89.
- ASHER, R. J., MENG, J., WIBLE, J. R., MCKENNA, M., ROUIGIER, G. W., DASHZEVEG, D. & NOVACEK, M. J. (2005). Stem Lagomorpha and the antiquity of Glires. *Science* 307, 1091–1094.
- BAKER, R. J., BININDA-EMONDS, O. R. P., MANTILLA-MELUK, H., PORTER, C. A. & VAN DEN BUSSCHE, R. A. (2012). Molecular time scale of diversification of feeding strategy and morphology in New World leaf-nosed bats (Phyllostomidae): a phylogenetic perspective. In Evolutionary History of Bats: Fossils, Molecules and Morphology (eds G. F. GUNNELL and N. B. SIMMONS), pp. 385–409. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- BAKER, W. J. & COUVREUR, T. L. P. (2013a). Global biogeography and diversification of palms sheds light on the evolution of tropical lineages. I Historical biogeography. *Journal of Biogeography* 40, 274–285.
- BAKER, W. J. & COUVREUR, T. L. P. (2013b). Global biogeography and diversification of palms sheds light on the evolution of tropical lineages. II Diversification history and origin of regional assemblages. *Journal of Biogeography* 40, 286–298.
- BARKER, F. K., CIBOIS, A., SCHIKLER, P., FEINSTEIN, J. & CRACRAFT, J. (2004). Phylogeny and diversification of the largest avian radiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101, 11040–11045.
- BININDA-EMONDS, O. R. P., CARDILLO, M., JONES, K. E., MACPHEE, R. D. E., BECK, R. M. D., GRENYER, R., PRICE, S. A., VOS, R. A., GITTLEMAN, J. L. & PURVIS, A. (2007). The delayed rise of present-day mammals. *Nature* 446, 507–512.
- BLANGA-KANFI, S., MIRANDA, H., PENN, O., PUPKO, T., DEBRY, R. W. & HUCHON, D. (2009). Rodent phylogeny revised: analysis of six nuclear genes from all major rodent clades. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 9, 71.
- BLEIWEISS, R. (1998). Fossil gap analysis supports early Tertiary origin of trophically diverse avian orders. *Geology* 26, 323–326.
- BLOCH, J. I. & BOYER, D. M. (2002). Grasping primate origins. Science 298, 1606–1610.BLOCH, J. I., SILCOX, M. T., BOYER, D. M. & SARGIS, E. J. (2007). New Paleocene
- skeletons and the relationship of plesiadapiforms to crown-clade primates. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences **104**, 1159–1164.
- BOLES, W. E. (1995). The world's oldest songbird. Nature 374, 21-22.
- BOLMGREN, K. & ERIKSSON, O. (2005). Fleshy fruits: origins, niche shifts, and diversification. Oikos 109, 255–272.
- BOWEN, G. J., CLYDE, W. C., KOCH, P. L., TING, S., ALROY, J., TSABAMOTO, T., WANG, Y. & WANG, Y. (2002). Mammalian dispersal at the Paleocene/Eocene boundary. *Science* 295, 2062–2065.
- BOYER, D. M., COSTEUR, L. & LIPMAN, Y. (2012). Earliest record of *Platychoerops* (Primates, Plesiadapidae), a new species from Mouras Quarry, Mont de Berru, France. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 149, 329–346.

- BOYER, D. M., EVANS, A. R. & JERNVALL, J. (2010). Evidence of dietary differentiation among late Paleocene-Early Eocene Plesiadapids (Mammalia, Primates). *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 142, 194–210.
- BREMER, B. & ERIKSSON, O. (1992). Evolution of fruit characters and dispersal modes in the tropical family Rubiaceae. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 27, 79–95.
- BREMER, B. & ERIKSSON, T. (2009). Time tree of Rubiaceae: phylogeny and dating the family, subfamilies, and tribes. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 170, 766–793.
- BUSH, C. M., LU, L., FRITSCH, P. W., LI, D.-Z. & KRON, K. A. (2009). Phylogeny of Gaulthericae (Ericaceae: Vaccinioideae) based on DNA sequence data from *matK*, *ndhF*, and *mITS*. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* **170**, 355–364.
- CARROLL, R. L. (1997). Patterns and Processes of Vertebrate Evolution. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- CARTMILL, M. (1974). Rethinking primate origins. Science 184, 436-443.
- CARTMILL, M. (1992). New views on primate origins. *Evolutionary Anthropology* 1, 105–111.
- CHANDLER, M. E. J. (1961). The Lower Tertiary Floras of Southern England. I. Paleocene Floras. London Clay Flora. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- CHAPMAN, C. A. (1995). Primate seed dispersal: coevolution and conservation implications. *Evolutionary Anthropology* 4, 74–82.
- CHAPMAN, L. J., CHAPMAN, C. A. & WRANGHAM, R. W. (1992). Balamites wilsoniana: elephant dependent dispersal? *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 8, 275–283.
- CHESTER, S. G. B. & BEARD, K. C. (2012). New micromomyid plesiadapiforms (Mammalia, Euarchonta) from the late Paleocene of Big Multi Quarry, Washakie Basin, Wyoming. Annals of Carnegie Museum 80, 159–172.
- CHIAPPE, L. M. & DYKE, G. J. (2002). The Mesozoic radiation of birds. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 33, 91–124.
- CLAUSING, G., MEYER, K. & RENNER, S. S. (2000). Correlations among fruit traits and evolution of different fruits within Melastomataccae. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society* 133, 303–326.
- COHEN, K. M., FINNEY, S. C., GIBBARD, P. L. & FAN, J.-X. (2013). The ICS International Chronostratigraphic Chart. *Episodes* 36, 199–204.
- COLLINSON, M. E. (1983). Fossil Plants of the London Clay. Palaeontological Association, London.
- COLLINSON, M. E. & HOOKER, J. J. (1991). Fossil evidence of interactions between plants and plant-eating mammals. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B* 333, 197–208.
- COLLINSON, M. E. & HOOKER, J. J. (2000). Gnaw marks on Eocene seeds: evidence for early rodent behavior. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeoecology* 157, 127–149.
- COOPER, A. & PENNY, D. (1997). Mass survival of birds across the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary: molecular evidence. *Science* 275, 1109–1113.
- CURRANO, E. D., WILF, P., WING, S. L., LABANDEIRA, C. C., LOVELOCK, E. C. & ROYER, D. L. (2008). Sharply increased insect herbivory during the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105, 1960–1964.
- DAGHLIAN, C. P. & CREPET, W. L. (1983). Oak catkins, leaves and fruits from the Oligocene Catahoula formation and their evolutionary significance. *American Journal* of Botany **70**, 639–649.
- DEW, J. L. & WRIGHT, P. (1998). Frugivory and seed dispersal by four species of primates in Madagascar's eastern rain forest. *Biotropica* **30**, 425–437.
- DOMINY, N. J., SVENNING, J.-C. & LI, W.-H. (2003). Historical contingency in the evolution of primate color vision. *Journal of Human Evolution* 44, 25–45.
- DONATTI, C. I., GALETTI, M., PIZO, M. A., GUIMARÃES, P. R. & JORDANO, P. (2007). Living in the land of ghosts: fruit traits and the importance of large mammals as seed dispersers in the Pantanal, Brazil. In *Seed Dispersal: Theory and its Application in a Changing World* (eds A. J. DENNIS, R. J. GREEN and E. W. SCHUPP), pp. 104–123. CAB International, Wallingford.
- DUMONT, E. R., DÁVALOS, L. M., GOLDBERG, A., SANTANA, S. E., REX, K. & VOIGT, C. C. (2012). Morphological innovation, diversification and invasion of a new adaptive zone. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 279, 1797–1805.
- DYKE, G. & LINDOW, B. (2009). Taphonomy and abundance of birds from the Lower Eocene Fur formation of Denmark. *Geological Journal* 44, 365–373.
- DYKE, G. J. & VAN TUINEN, M. (2004). The evolutionary radiation of modern birds (Neornithes): reconciling molecules, morphology and the fossil record. *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 141, 153–177.
- ETTING, T. P. & GUNNELL, G. F. (2009). Global completeness of the bat fossil record. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution* 16, 151–173.
- ENDRESS, P. K. (1982). Syncarpy and alternative modes of escaping disadvantages of apocarpy in primitive angiosperms. *Taxon* 31, 48–52.
- ERICSON, P. G. P. (2012). Evolution of terrestrial birds in three continents: biogeography and parallel radiations. *Journal of Biogeography* 39, 813–824.
- ERICSON, P. G. P., ANDERSSON, C. L., BRITTON, T., ELZANOWSKI, A., JOHANSSON, U. S., KÄLLERSJÖ, M., OHLSON, J. I., PARSONS, T. J., ZUCCON, D. & MAYR, G. (2006). Diversification of Neoaves: integration of molecular sequence data and fossils. *Biology Letters* 2, 543–547.
- ERICSON, P. G. P., IRESTEDT, M. & JOHANSSON, U. S. (2003). Evolution, biogeography, and patterns of diversification in passerine birds. *Journal of Avian Biology* 34, 3–15.

- ERICSON, P. G. P., KLOPFSTEIN, S., IRESTEDT, M., NGUYEN, J. M. T. & NYLANDER, J. A. A. (2014). Dating the diversification of the major lineages of Passeriformes (Aves). *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 14, 8.
- ERIKSSON, O. (2008). Evolution of seed size and biotic seed dispersal in angiosperms: paleoecological and neoecological evidence. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 169, 863–870.
- ERIKSSON, O., FRIIS, E. M. & LÖFGREN, P. (2000a). Seed size, fruit size, and dispersal systems in angiosperms from the Early Cretaceous to the Late Tertiary. *American Naturalist* **156**, 47–58.
- ERIKSSON, O., FRIIS, E. M., PEDERSEN, K. R. & CRANE, P. R. (2000b). Seed size and dispersal systems of Early Cretaceous angiosperms from Famalicão, Portugal. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 161, 319–329.
- ERIKSSON, O. & KAINULAINEN, K. (2011). The evolutionary ecology of dust seeds. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 13, 73–87.
- FEDUCCIA, A. (1996). The Origin and Evolution of Birds. Yale University Press, New Haven.
- FEDUCCIA, A. (2003). "Big bang" for tertiary birds? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18, 172-176.
- FISCHER, K. E. & CHAPMAN, C. A. (1993). Frugivores and fruit syndromes: differences in patterns at the genus and species level. *Oikos* 66, 472–482.
- FLEMING, T. H., BREITWISCH, R. & WHITESIDES, G. H. (1987). Patterns of tropical vertebrate frugivore diversity. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 18, 91–109.
- FLEMING, T. H. & KRESS, W. J. (2011). A brief history of fruits and frugivores. Acta Oecologica 37, 521–530.
- FLÖRCHINGER, M., BRAUN, J., BÖHNING-GAESE, K. & SCHAEFER, H. M. (2010). Fruit size, crop mass, and plant height explain differential fruit choice of primates and birds. *Oecologia* 164, 151–161.
- FORGET, P.-M., HAMMOND, D. S., MILLERON, T. & THOMAS, R. (2002). Seasonality of fruiting and food hoarding by rodents in neotropical forests: consequences for seed dispersal and seedling recruitment. In *Seed Dispersal and Fraginory: Ecology, Evolution and Conservation* (eds D. J. LEVEY, W. R. SILVA and M. GALETTI), pp. 241–256. CAB International, Wallingford.
- FRIIS, E. M., CRANE, P. R. & PEDERSEN, K. R. (2011). Early Flowers and Angiosperm Evolution. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- GALETTI, M., GUEVARA, R., CÔRTES, M. C., FADINI, R., VON MATTER, S., LEITE, A. B., LABECCA, F., RIBEIRO, T., CARVALHO, C. S., COLLEVATTI, R. G., PIRES, M. M., GUIMARÃES, P. R. Jr., BRANCALION, P. H., RIBEIRO, M. C. & JORDANO, P. (2013). Functional extinction of birds drives rapid evolutionary changes in seed size. Science 340, 1086–1090.
- GAUTIER-HION, A., DUPLANTIER, J.-M., QURIS, R., FEER, F., SOURD, C., DECOUX, J.-P., DUBOST, G., EMMONS, L., ERARD, C., HECKETSWEILER, P., MOUNGAZI, A., ROUSSILHON, C. & THIOLLAY, J.-M. (1985). Fruit characters as a basis of fruit choice and seed dispersal in a tropical forest vertebrate community. *Oecologia* 65, 324–337.
- GINGERICH, P. D. (2006). Environment and evolution through the Paleocene-Eocene thermal maximum. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 21, 246–253.
- GÓMEZ, J. M. & VERDÚ, M. (2012). Mutualism with plants drives primate diversification. Systematic Biology 61, 567–577.
- GOSWAMI, A., PRASAD, G. V. R., UPCHURCH, P., BOYER, D. M., SEIFFERT, E. R., VERMA, O., GHEERBRANT, E. & FLYNN, J. J. (2011). A radiation of arboreal basal eutherian mammals beginning in the Late Cretaceous of India. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108, 16333–16338.
- GRAHAM, A. (1999). Late Cretaceous and Cenozoic History of North American Vegetation. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- GUIMARÃES, P. R. Jr., GALETTI, M. & JORDANO, P. (2008). Seed dispersal anachronisms: rethinking the fruits extinct megafauna ate. *PLoS ONE* 3, e1745.
- GUIMARÃES, P. R. Jr., JORDANO, P. & THOMPSON, J. N. (2011). Evolution and coevolution in mutualistic networks. *Ecology Letters* 14, 877–885.
- HANSEN, D. M. & GALETTI, M. (2009). The forgotten megafauna. Science 324, 42-43.
- HARLEY, M. M. (2006). A summary of fossil records for Arecaceae. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 151, 39–67.
- HARRISON, C. J. O. (1979). Small non-passerine birds of the Lower Tertiary as exploiters of ecological niches now occupied by passerines. *Nature* 281, 562–563.
- HARRISON, D. L. & HOOKER, J. J. (2010). Late Middle Eocene bats from the Creechbarrow limestone formation, Dorset, southern England with description of a new species of *Archaeonycteris* (Chiroptera: Archaeonycteridae). *Acta Chiropterologica* 12, 1–18.
- HEDGES, S. B., PARKER, S. H., SIBLEY, C. G. & KUMAR, S. (1996). Continental breakup and the ordinal diversification of birds and mammals. *Nature* 382, 226–229.
- HERRERA, C. M. (1985). Determinants of plant-animal coevolution: the case of mutualistic dispersal of seeds by vertebrates. *Oikos* 44, 132–141.
- HERRERA, C. M. (1987). Vertebrate-dispersed plants of the Iberian Peninsula: a study of fruit characteristics. *Ecological Monographs* 57, 305–331.
- HERRERA, C. M. (1998). Long-term dynamics of Mediterranean frugivorous birds and fleshy fruits: a 12-year study. *Ecological Monographs* **68**, 511–538.
- HERRERA, C. M. (2002). Seed dispersal by vertebrates. In *Plant-Animal Interactions:* An Evolutionary Approach (eds C. M. HERRERA and O. PELLMYR), pp. 185–208. Blackwell, Oxford.

- HOFFMANN, F. G., HOOFER, S. R. & BAKER, R. J. (2008). Molecular dating of the diversification of Phyllostominae bats based on nuclear and mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 49, 653–658.
- HOORN, C., WESSELINGH, F. P., TER STEEGE, H., BERMUDEZ, M. A., MORA, A., SEVINK, J., SABMARTÍN, I., SANCHEZ-MESEGUER, A., ANDERSON, C. L., FIGUEIREDO, J. P., JARAMILLO, C., RIFF, D., NEGRI, F. R., HOOGHIEMSTRA, H., LUNDBERG, J., STADLER, T., SÄRKINEN, T. & ANTONELLI, A. (2010). Amazonia through time: andean uplift, climate change, landscape evolution, and biodiversity. *Science* 330, 927–931.
- HULME, P. E. (2002). Seed-eaters: seed dispersal, destruction and demography. In Seed Dispersal and Frugizory: Ecology, Evolution and Conservation (eds D. J. LEVEY, W. R. SILVA and M. GALETTI), pp. 257–273. CAB International, Wallingford.
- HWANG, S. H., MAYR, G. & BOLORTSETSEG, M. (2010). The earliest record of a Galliform bird in Asia, from the Late Paleocene-Early Eocene of the Gobi desert, Mongolia. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* **30**, 1642–1644.
- JACOBS, B., HUYSMANS, S. & SMETS, E. (2010). Evolution and systematic value of fruit and seed characters in Adoxaceae (Dipsacales). *Taxon* 59, 850–866.
- JANIS, C. M. (2000). Patterns in the evolution of herbivory in large terrestrial mammals: the Paleogene of North America. In *Evolution of Herbivory in Terrestrial Vertebrates* (ed. H.-D. SUES), pp. 168–222. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- JANIS, C. M., DAMUTH, J. & THEODOR, J. M. (2002). The origins and evolution of the North American grassland biome: the story from the hoofed mammals. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 177, 183–198.
- JANSON, C. H. (1983). Adaptation of fruit morphology to dispersal agents in a neotropical forest. *Science* 219, 187–189.
- JANZEN, D. H. (1979). How to be a fig. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 10, 13-51.
- JANZEN, D. H. & MARTIN, P. S. (1982). Neotropical anachronisms: the fruits the gomphotheres ate. *Science* 215, 19–27.
- JENKINS, F. A. Jr. & KRAUSE, D. W. (1983). Adaptations for climbing in North American Multituberculates (Mammalia). Science 220, 712–715.
- JI, Q., LUO, Z.-X., YUAN, C.-X., WIBLE, J. R., ZHANG, J.-P. & GEORGI, J. A. (2002). The earliest known eutherian mammal. *Nature* 416, 816–822.
- JOHNSON, C. N. (2009). Ecological consequences of late Quaternary extinctions of megafauna. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 276, 2509–2519.
- JØNSSON, K. A., FABRE, P.-H., RICKLEFS, R. E. & FJELDSÅ, J. (2011). Major global radiation of corvoid birds originated in the proto-Papuan archipelago. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences 108, 2328–2333.
- JORDANO, P. (1995a). Angiosperm fleshy fruits and seed dispersers: a comparative analysis of adaptation and constraints in plant-animal interactions. *American Naturalist* 145, 163–191.
- JORDANO, P. (1995b). Frugivore-mediated selection on fruit and seed size: birds and St Lucies cherry, *Prunus mahaleb. Ecology* 76, 2627–2639.
- JORDANO, P. (2000). Fruits and frugivory. In *The Ecology of Regeneration in Plant Communities*. Second Edition (ed. M. FENNER), pp. 125–166. CAB International, Wallingford.
- JORDANO, P., GARCIA, C., GODOY, J. A. & GARCIA-CASTAÑO, J. L. (2007). Differential contribution of frugivores to complex seed dispersal patterns. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **104**, 3278–3282.
- JOY, J. B. (2013). Symbiosis catalyses niche expansion and diversification. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 280, 20122820.
- KAINULAINEN, K., PERSSON, C., ERIKSSON, T. & BREMER, B. (2010). Molecular systematics and morphological character evolution of the Condamineeae (Rubiaceae). American Journal of Botany 97, 1961–1981.
- KISLEV, M. E., HARTMANN, A. & BAR-YOSEF, O. (2006). Early domesticated fig in the Jordan valley. *Science* **312**, 1372–1374.
- KNAPP, S. (2002). Tobacco to tomatoes: a phylogenetic perspective on fruit diversity in the Solanaceae. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 2001–2022.
- KNOBLOCH, E. (1964). Neue Pflanzenfunde aus dem Südböhmischen Senon. Jahrbuch des Staatlichen Museums für Mineralogie und Geologie zu Dresden 1964, 133–201.
- KNOBLOCH, E. (1977). Paläokarpologische Charakteristik der Flyschzone der Mährischen Karpaten. Sbornik Geologichých Ved Rada P Paleontologie 19, 79–137.
- KNOBLOCH, E. (1985). Paläobotanisch-biostratigraphische Charakteristik der Klikov-Schichtenfolge (Oberturon-Santon) in Südböhmen. Sborník Geologichých Ved Rada P Paleontologie 40, 101–145.
- KNOBLOCH, E., KVAČEK, Z., BŮŽEK, Č., MAI, D. H. & BATTEN, D. J. (1993). Evolutionary significance of floristic changes in the northern hemisphere during the Late Cretaceous and Paleogene, with particular reference to Central Europe. *Review* of *Palaeobotany and Palynology* 78, 41–54.
- KNOBLOCH, E. & MAI, D. H. (1983). Carbonized seeds and fruits from the Cretaceous of Bohemia and Moravia and their stratigraphical significance. *Knihovnicka Zemntho Plynu a Nafty* 4, 305–332.
- KNOBLOCH, E. & MAI, D. H. (1984). Neue Gattungen nach Früchten und Samen aus dem Cenoman bis Maastricht (Kreide) von Mitteleuropa. Feddes Repettorium 95, 3–41.
- KNOBLOCH, E. & MAI, D. H. (1986). Monograhie der Früchte und Samen in der Kreide von Mitteleuropa. Rozpravy Ústredmíko Ústavu Geologického Praha 47, 1–219.
- KOCH, P. L. & BARNOSKY, A. D. (2006). Late Quaternary extinctions: state of the debate. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 37, 215–250.

- KRISTOFFERSEN, A. V. (2001). An early Paleogene trogon (Aves: Trogoniformes) from the Fur formation, Denmark. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 22, 661–666.
- LINDOW, B. E. K. & DYKE, G. J. (2006). Bird evolution in the Eocene: climate change in Europe and a Danish fossil fauna. *Biological Reviews* **81**, 483–499.
- LOMÁSCOLO, S. B., SPERANZA, P. & KIMBALL, R. T. (2008). Correlated evolution of fig size and color supports the dispersal syndrome hypothesis. *Oecologia* 156, 783–796.
- LUPIA, R., LIDGARD, S. & CRANE, P. R. (1999). Comparing palynological abundance and diversity: implications for biotic replacement during the Cretaceous angiosperm radiation. *Paleobiology* 25, 305–340.
- MACK, A. L. (1993). The sizes of vertebrate-dispersed fruits: a neotropical-paleotropical comparison. American Naturalist 142, 840–856.
- MACK, A. L. (2000). Did fleshy fruit pulp evolve as a defence against seed loss rather than as a dispersal mechanism. *Journal of Biosciences* 25, 93–97.
- MAI, D. H. (1987). Neue Früchte und Samen aus paläozänen Ablagerungen Mitteleuropas. Feddes Repertorium 98, 197–229.
- MAI, D. M. (1989). Development and regional differentiation of the European vegetation during the Tertiary. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 162, 79–91.
- MAYR, G. (2005). The Paleogene fossil record of birds in Europe. *Biological Reviews* 80, 515–542.
- MAYR, G. (2007). The birds from the Paleocene fissure filling of Walbeck (Germany). Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology 27, 394–408.
- MAYR, G. (2013). The age of the crown group of passerine birds and its evolutionary significance: molecular calibrations versus the fossil record. Systematics and Biodiversity 11, 7–13.
- MAYR, G., ALVARENGA, H. & CLARKE, J. A. (2011). An *Elaphrocnemus*-like landbird and other avian remains from the late Paleocene of Brazil. *Acta Paleontologica Polonica* 56, 679–684.
- MAYR, G. & MANEGOLD, A. (2004). The oldest European fossil songbird from the early Oligocene of Germany. *Naturwissenschaften* 91, 173–177.
- MENG, J., ÑI, X., LI, C. K., BEARD, K. C., GEBO, D. L., WANG, Y. Q. & WANG, H. J. (2007). New material of Alagomyidae (Mammalia, Glires) from the Late Paleocene Subeng locality, Inner Mongolia. *American Museum Novitates* 3597, 1–29.
- MENG, J., WYSS, A. R., HU, Y. M., WANG, Y. Q., BOWEN, G. J. & KOCH, P. L. (2005). Glires (Mammalia) form the Late Paleocene Bayan Ulan locality of Inner Mogolia. *American Museum Novitates* 3473, 1–25.
- MENKE, S., BÖHNING-GAESE, K. & SCHLEUNING, M. (2012). Plant-frugivore networks are less specialized and more robust at forest farmland edges than in the interior of a tropical forest. *Oikos* 121, 1553–1566.
- MEREDITH, R. W., JANEČKA, J. E., GATESY, J., RYDER, O. A., FISHER, C. A., TEELING, E. C., GOODBLA, A., EIZIRIK, E., SIMÃO, T. L. L., STADLER, T., RABOSKY, D. L., HONEYCUTT, R. L., FLYNN, J. J., INGRAM, C. M., STEINER, C., WILLIAMS, T. L., ROBINSON, T. J., BURK-HERRICK, A., WESTERMAN, M., AYOUB, N. A., SPRINGER, M. S. & MURPHY, W. J. (2011). Impacts of the Cretaceous terrestrial revolution and KPg extinction on mammal diversification. *Science* 334, 521–524.
- MOLES, A. T., ACKERLY, D. D., TWEDDLE, J. C., DICKIE, J. B., SMITH, R., LEISHMAN, M. R., MAYFIELD, M. M., PITMAN, A., WOOD, J. T. & WESTOBY, M. (2007). Global patterns in seed size. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 16, 109–116.
- MORGAN, G. S. & CZAPLEWSKI, N. J. (2012). Evolutionary history of the Neotropical Chiroptera: the fossil record. In *Evolutionary History of Bats: Fossils, Molecules and Morphology* (eds G. F. GUNNELL and N. B. SIMMONS), pp. 105–161. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- MORLEY, R. J. (2000). Origin and Evolution of Tropical Rain Forests. Wiley, London.
- MORLEY, R. J. (2011). Cretaceous and Tertiary climate change and the past distribution of megathermal rainforests. In *Tropical Rainforest Responses to Climatic Change*. Second Edition (eds M. B. BUSH, J. R. FLENLEY and W. D. GOSLING), pp. 1–34. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- MOTTA-JUNIOR, J. C. & MARTINS, K. (2002). The frugivorous diet of the maned wolf, *Chrysocyon brachyurus* in Brazil: ecology and conservation. In *Seed Dispersal and Frugivory: Ecology, Evolution and Conservation* (eds D. J. LEVEY, W. R. SILVA and M. GALETTI), pp. 291–303. CAB International, Wallingford.
- MÜLLER, A. E. & SOLIGO, C. (2005). Primate sociality in evolutionary context. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 128, 399–414.
- MUSCARELLA, R. & FLEMING, T. H. (2007). The role of frugivorous bats in tropical forest succession. *Biological Reviews* 82, 573–590.
- NCHANJI, A. C. & PLUMPTRE, A. J. (2003). Seed germination and early seedling establishment of some elephant-dispersed species in Banyang-Mbo wildlife sanctuary, south-western Cameroon. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **19**, 229–237.
- NEMEJC, F. (1971). Fossile Früchte und Samen aus der Flyschzone der Mährischen Karpaten. Sbornik Geologichých Ved Rada P Paleontologie 13, 7–46.
- NI, X., WANG, Y., HU, Y. & LI, C. (2003). A euprimate skull from the early Eocene of China. *Nature* 427, 65–68.
- NOVACEK, M. J. (1999). 100 million years of land vertebrate evolution: the Cretaceous-Early Tertiary transition. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden* **86**, 230–258.
- NUISMER, S. L., JORDANO, P. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2012). Coevolution and the architecture of mutualistic networks. *Evolution* 67, 338–354.

Biological Reviews 91 (2016) 168-186 © 2014 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- O'LEARY, M. A., BLOCH, J. I., FLYNN, J. J., GAUDIN, T. J., GIALLOMBARDO, A., GIANNINI, N. P., GOLDBERG, S. L., KRAATZ, B. P., LUO, Z.-X., MENG, J., NI, X., NOVACEK, M. J., PERINI, F. A., RANDALL, Z. S., ROUGIER, G. W., SARGIS, E. J., SILCOX, M. T., SIMMONS, N. B., SPAULDING, M., VELAZCO, P. M., WEKSLER, M., WIBLE, J. R. & CIRRANELLO, A. L. (2013). The placental mammal ancestor and the post-K-Pg radiation of placentals. *Science* 339, 662–667.
- OPAZO, J. C. (2005). A molecular timescale for caviomorph rodents (Mammalia, Hystricognathi). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 37, 932-937.
- OPAZO, J. C., WILDMAN, D. E., PRYCHITKO, T., JOHNSON, R. M. & GOODMAN, M. (2006). Phylogenetic relationships and divergence times among New World monkeys (Platyrrhini, Primates). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 40, 274–280.
- PADIAN, K. & CHIAPPE, L. M. (1998). The origin and early evolution of birds. *Biological Reviews* 73, 1–42.
- PATANÉ, J. S. L., WECKSTEIN, J. D., ALEIXO, A. & BATES, J. M. (2009). Evolutionary history of *Ramphastos* toucans: molecular phylogenetics, temporal diversification, and biogeography. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 53, 923–934.
- VAN DER PIJL, L. (1972). Principles of Dispersal in Higher Plants. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- PIZO, M. A. (2002). The seed-dispersers and fruit syndromes of Myrtaceae in the Brazilian Atlantic forest. In *Seed Dispersal and Frugivory: Ecology, Evolution and Conservation* (eds D. J. LEVEY, W. R. SILVA and M. GALETTI), pp. 129–143. CAB International, Wallingford.
- PLEIN, M., LÄNGSFELD, L., NEUSCHULZ, E. L., SCHULTHEIβ, C., INGMANN, L., TÖPFER, T., BÖHNING-GAESE, K. & SCHLEUNING, M. (2013). Constant properties of plant-frugivore networks despite fluctuations in fruit and bird communities in space and time. *Ecology* 94, 1296–1306.
- POTTER, D., ERIKSSON, T., EVANS, R. C., OH, S., SMEDMARK, J. E. E., MORGAN, D. R., KERR, M., ROBERTSON, K. R., ARSENAULT, M., DICKINSON, T. A. & CAMPBELL, C. S. (2007). Phylogeny and classification of Rosaceae. *Plant Systematics* and Evolution 266, 5–43.
- POULSEN, J. R., CLARK, C. J., CONNOR, E. F. & SMITH, T. B. (2002). Differential resource use by primates and hornbills: implications for seed dispersal. *Ecology* 83, 228–240.
- PROTHERO, D. R. (1994). The Late Eocene-Oligocene extinctions. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences 22, 145–165.
- RAVEL, A., MARIVAUX, L., TABUCE, R., ADACI, M., MAHBOUBI, M., MEBROUK, F. & BENSALAH, M. (2011). The oldest African bat from the early Eocene of El Kohol (Algeria). *Naturvissenschaften* **98**, 397–405.
- REID, E. M. & CHANDLER, M. E. J. (1933). *The London Clay Flora*. British Museum (Natural History), London.
- RENNER, S. S. (2004). Multiple Miocene Melastomataceae dispersal between Madagascar, Africa and India. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B* 359, 1485–1494.
- RENNER, S. S., CLAUSING, G. & MEYER, K. (2001). Historical biogeography of Melastomataceae: the roles of Tertiary migration and long-distance dispersal. *American Journal of Botany* 88, 1290–1300.
- RIBAS, C. C., MIYAKI, C. Y. & CRACRAFT, J. (2009). Phylogenetic relationships, diversification and biogeography on Neotropical *Brotogeris* parakeets. *Journal of Biogeography* 36, 1712–1729.
- ROJAS, D., VALE, A., FERRERO, V. & NAVARRO, L. (2011). When did plants become important to leaf-nosed bats? Diversification of feeding habits in the family Phyllostomidae. *Molecular Ecology* 20, 2217–2228.
- ROJAS, D., VALE, A., FERRERO, V. & NAVARRO, L. (2012). The role of frugivory in the diversification of bats in the Neotropics. *Journal of Biogeography* **39**, 1948–1960. SARGIS, E. J. (2002). Primate origins nailed. *Science* **298**, 1564–1565.
- SÄRRINEN, T., BOHS, L., OLMSTEAD, R. G. & KNAPP, S. (2013). A phylogenetic framework foer evolutionary study of the nichtshades (Solanaceae): a dated 1000-tip tree. BMC Evolutionary Biology 13, 214.
- SCHLEUNING, M., BLÜTHGEN, N., FLÖRCHINGER, M., BRAUN, J., SCHAEFER, M. & BÖHNING-GAESE, K. (2011). Specialization and interaction strength in a tropical plant-frugivore network differ among forest strata. *Ecology* 92, 26–36.
- SEYMOUR, G. B., ØSTERGAARD, L., CHAPMAN, N. H., KNAPP, S. & MARTIN, C. (2013). Fruit development and ripening. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 64, 219–241.
- SHANAHAN, M., SO, S., COMPTON, S. G. & CORLETT, R. (2001). Fig-cating by vertebrate frugivores: a global review. *Biological Reviews* 76, 529–572.
- SHATTUK, M. R. & WILLIAMS, S. A. (2010). Arboreality has allowed for the evolution of increased longevity in mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107, 4635–4639.
- SILCOX, M. T., BOYER, D. M., BLOCH, J. I. & SARGIS, E. J. (2007). Revisiting the adaptive origins of primates (again). *Journal of Human Evolution* 53, 321–324.
- SILCOX, M. T., DALMYN, C. K. & BLOCH, J. I. (2009). Virtual endocast of Ignacius graybullianus (Paromomyidae, Primates) and brain evolution in early primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **106**, 10987–10992.
- SILCOX, M. T. & WILLIAMSON, T. E. (2012). New discoveries of early Paleocene (Torrejonian) primates from the Nacimiento formation, San Juan Basin, New Mexico. *Journal of Human Evolution* 63, 805–833.

SIMMONS, N. B. (2005). An Eccene big bang for bats. Science 307, 527-528.

- SIMÕES, A. O., LIVSHULTZ, T., CONTI, E. & ENDRESS, M. E. (2007). Phylogeny and systematics of the Rauvolfioideae (Apocynaceae) based on molecular and morphological evidence. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden* 94, 268–297.
- SIMS, H. J. (2010). Paleolatitudinal gradients in seed size during the Cretaceous-Tertiary radiation of angiosperms. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 171, 216–220.
- SIMS, H. J. (2012). The evolutionary diversification of seed size: using the past to understand the present. *Evolution* 66, 1636–1649.
- SMITH, T., HABERSETZER, J., SIMMONS, N. B. & GUNNELL, G. F. (2012). Systematics and paleobiogeography of early bats. In *Evolutionary History of Bats: Fossils, Molecules and Morphology* (eds G. F. GUNNELL and N. B. SIMMONS), pp. 23–66. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- SMITH, T., ROSE, K. D. & GINGERICH, P. D. (2006). Rapid Asia-Europe-North America geographic dispersal of earliest Eocene primate *Teilhardina* during the Paleocene-Eocene thermal maximum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 11223–11227.
- SNOW, D. W. (1981). Tropical frugivorous birds and their food plants: a world survey. *Biotropica* 13, 1–14.
- SOLIGO, C. & MARTIN, R. D. (2006). Adaptive origins of primates revisited. Journal of Human Evolution 50, 414–430.
- STRAIT, S. G. (2001). Dietary reconstruction of small-bodied Omomyoid primates. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 21, 322–334.
- STRÖMBERG, C. A. E. (2011). Evolution of grasses and grassland ecosystems. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences 39, 517–544.
- STULL, G. W., HERRERA, F., MANCHESTER, S. R., JARAMILLO, C. & TIFFNEY, B. H. (2012). Fruits of an "Old World" tribe (Phytocrenaceae; Icacinaceae) from the Paleogene of North and South America. *Systematic Bolany* 37, 784–794.
- SUSSMAN, R. W. (1991). Primate origins and the evolution of angiosperms. American Journal of Primatology 23, 209–223.
- SUSSMAN, R. W., RASMUSSEN, D. T. & RAVEN, P. H. (2013). Rethinking primate origin again. American Journal of Primatology 75, 95–106.
- TABUCE, R., ANTUNES, M. T. & SIGÉ, B. (2009). A new primitive bat from the earliest Eocene of Europe. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* 29, 627–630.
- TAVARÉ, S., MARSHALL, C. R., WILL, O., SOLIGO, C. & MARTIN, R. D. (2002). Using the fossil record to estimate the age of the last common ancestor of extant primates. *Nature* **416**, 726–729.
- TEELING, E. C., SPRINGER, M. S., MADSEN, O., BATES, P., O'BRIEN, S. J. & MURPHY, W. J. (2005). A molecular phylogeny for bats illuminates biogeography and the fossil record. *Science* **307**, 580–584.
- THOMPSON, J. N. (1994). The Coevolutionary Process. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- THOMPSON, J. N. (2005). The Geographic Mosaic of Coevolution. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- TIFFNEY, B. H. (1984). Seed size, dispersal syndromes, and the rise of the angiosperms: evidence and hypothesis. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 71, 551–576.
- TIFFNEY, B. H. (2004). Vertebrate dispersal of seed plants through time. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 35, 1–29.
- VALIDO, A., SCHAEFER, H. M. & JORDANO, P. (2011). Colour, design and reward: phenotypic integration of fleshy fruit displays. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 24, 751–760.
- VANDER WALL, S. B. & BECK, M. J. (2012). A comparison of frugivory and scatter-hoarding seed-dispersal syndromes. *Botanical Review* 78, 10–31.
- VANGEROW, E. F. (1954). Megasporen und andere pflanzliche Mikrofossilien aus der Aachener Kreide. Paleontographica Abteilung B: Palaeophytologie 96, 24–38.
- VELAZCO, P. M. & PATTERSON, B. D. (2013). Diversification of the yellow-shouldered bats, genus *Stumira* (Chiroptera, Phyllostomidae), in the New World tropics. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **68**, 683–698.
- VOELKER, G., OUTLAW, R. K. & BOWIE, R. C. K. (2010). Pliocene forest dynamics as a primary driver of African bird speciation. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 19, 111–121.
- WANG, W., ORTIZ, R. D. C., JACQUES, F. M. B., XIANG, X.-G., LI, H.-L., LIN, L., LI, R.-Q., LIU, Y., SOLTIS, P. S., SOLTIS, D. E. & CHEN, Z.-D. (2012). Menispermaceae and the diversification of tropical rainforests near the Cretaceous-Paleogene boundary. *New Phytologist* **195**, 470–478.
- WATERHOUSE, D. M., LINDOW, B. E. K., ZELENKOV, N. V. & DYKE, G. J. (2008). Two new parrots (Psittaciformes) from the lower Eocene Fur formation of Denmark. *Palaeontology* 51, 575–582.
- WHEELWRIGHT, N. T. & ORIANS, G. H. (1982). Seed dispersal by animals: contrasts with pollen dispersal, problems of terminology, and constraints on coevolution. *American Naturalist* 119, 402–413.
- WILLIS, K. J. & MCELWAIN, J. C. (2002). *The Evolution of Plants*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- WILLSON, M. F. (1993). Mammals as seed-dispersal mutualists in North America. Oikos 67, 159–176.
- WILSON, G. P., EVANS, A. R., CORFE, I. J., SMITS, P. D., FORTELIUS, M. & JERNVALL, J. (2012). Adaptive radiation of multituberculate mammals before the extinction of dinosaurs. *Nature* 483, 457–460.
- WING, S. L. & BOUCHER, L. D. (1998). Ecological aspects of the Cretaccous flowering plant radiation. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences 26, 379–421.

- WING, S. L. & TIFFNEY, B. H. (1987a). Interactions of angiosperms and herbivorous tetrapods through time. In *The Origins of Angiosperms and their Biological Consequences* (eds E. M. FRIIS, W. G. CHALONER and P. R. CRANE), pp. 203–224. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- WING, S. L. & TIFFNEY, B. H. (1987b). The reciprocal interaction of angiosperm evolution and tetrapod herbivory. *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology* 50, 179–210.
- ZACHOS, J., PAGANI, M., SLOAN, L., THOMAS, E. & BILLUPS, K. (2001). Trends, rhytms, and aberrations in global climate 65 Ma to present. *Science* **292**, 686–693.
- ZHENG, X., MARTIN, L. D., ZHOU, Z., BURNHAM, D. A., ZHANG, F. & MIAO, D. (2011). Fossil evidence of avian crops from the Early Cretaceous of China. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 108, 15905–15907.
- ZHOU, Z. & ZHANG, F. (2002). A long-tailed, seed-eating bird from the Early Cretaceous of China. *Nature* **418**, 405–409.
- ZONA, S. & HENDERSON, A. (1989). A review of animal-mediated seed dispersal of palms. *Selbyana* 11, 6–21.

(Received 27 May 2014; revised 21 October 2014; accepted 29 October 2014; published online 20 December 2014)